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XXXXXX, 2020

To the Members of the Board of Directors

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

95 Perry Street, Suite 403 &
Buffalo, New York 14203 e

Members of the Board: p &

ey

We are pleased to present this report related to our audits o%;tﬁe :ﬁn':ancial statements of Buffalo Urban Development
Corporation (BUDC), as of and for the year ended eggmber‘sj, 2019. This report summarizes certain matters
required by professional standards to be communicatet ,EQ_“you in your oversight responsibility for BUDC's financial
reporting process. \ A

e

s%:f BUDC and management and is not intended to be and
%

52

This report is intended solely for the infqﬁﬁgiibb:f’_and u
should not be used by anyone other thaivtheseﬁ)eciﬁe ‘harties. It will be our pleasure to respond to any questions

you have about this report. We appreéigte thgﬁ?}P?fWNt be of service to BUDC.
b &=

Very truly yours,

Freed Maxick CPAs, P.C.
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Required Communications

Generally accepted auditing standards (AU-C 260, The Auditors Communications with Those Charge with
Governance) require the auditor to promote effective two-way communication between the auditor and those charged
with governance. Consistent with this requirement, the following summarizes our responsibilities regarding the
financial statement audit as well as observations arising from our audit that are significant and relevant to your
responsibility to oversee the financial reporting process.

Area Comments
Our Responsibilities with Regard to the Our responsibilities under auditing standards generally
Financial Statement Audit accepted in the United States of America and Government

Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States, have been described to you in our
arrangement letter dated January 6, 2020. Our audit of the
financial statements does not relieve management or those
charged with governance of their responsibilities which are
also described in that letter.

Overview of the Planned Scope and Timing of We have issued. & separate communication regarding the

the Financial Statement Audit planned scoe(e ‘and timing of our audit and have discussed
with you ourddentification of and planned audit response to
significant,[iSks of material misstatement.

Accounting Policies and Practices Prg_tééﬁility_pf Accodn@g Policies and Practices

Uﬁde_r génerally accepted principles, in certain
circumgtéaées, management may select among alternative
:_account'ing practices. In our view, in such circumstances,
\ f"'wffajnageme'ﬁff-,has selected the preferable accounting
s prastieel.,
".fM'éption of, or Change in, Accounting Policies

& ; "Ig(l%nagement has the ultimate responsibility for the
4 =wa.appropriateness of the accounting policies used by BUDC.
g TBUDC did not adopt any significant new accounting policies
- nor have there been any changes in existing significant
@ ¢ accounting policies during the current year.

Significant or Unusual Transactions

< -
\\ J We did not identify any significant or unusual transactions
& or significant accounting policies in controversial or
<& emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative
' guidance or consensus.

Management’'s Judgments and Accounting Estimates

Summary information about the process used by
management in formulating particularly sensitive accounting
estimates and about our conclusions regarding the
reasonableness of those estimates is in the attached
“Summary of Significant Accounting Estimates.”

Basis of Accounting The financial statements were prepared on assumption
that the entity will continue as a going concern.



Required Communications (Continued)

Audit Adjustments
Uncorrected Misstatement

Disagreements with Management

Consultations with Other Accountants

Significant Issues Discussed with
Management
Significant Difficulties Encountered in

Performing the Audit

Significant Written Communication Between
Management and Our Firm

We are not aware of nor have we proposed any audit
adjustments as a result of our audit.

We are not aware of any uncorrected misstatements other
than misstatements that are clearly trivial.

We encountered no disagreements with management over
the application of significant accounting principles, the
basis for management’s judgments on any significant
matters, the scope of the audit, or significant disclosures to
be included in the financial statements.

We are not aware of any consultations management had
with other accountants about accounting or auditing
matters.

No significant issues arising from the audit were discussed
with or were the subject of correspondence with
management. -

We did not enaﬁnhter any significant difficulties in dealing
with manag__,erfzt,en\fwduring the audit.

A copy..af the r'é"" entation letter provided to us by

m:rl?ﬁent is attac “e{aﬁ}s Exhibit A.



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
Summary of Significant Accounting Estimates
Year Ended December 31, 2019

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the preparation of financial statements and are based upon
management's current judgment. The process used by management encompasses their knowledge and experience
about past and current events and certain assumptions about future events. You may wish to monitor throughout the
year the process used to determine and record these accounting estimates. The following describes the significant
accounting estimates reflected in BUDC’s December 31, 2019 financial statements:

Management’s Basis of our conclusions on
Estimate Accounting Policy Estimation Process Reasonableness of Estimate
Eepreclatlgln °tf& Management depreciates Useful lives were assigned The methods and lives used to
ro;_)erty, an property, plant and equipment based on BUDC'’s useful estimate depreciation expense
Equipment over the estimated lives of the life policy. Management appears reasonable.
assets. was consistent in

calculating depreciation
based on the useful lives
assigned to each asset.




Recently Issued Accounting Standards

The GASB has issued several statements not yet implemented by BUDC. BUDC’s management has not yet
determined the effect these Statements will have on BUDC's financial statements. However, BUDC plans to
implement all standards by the required dates. The Statements which might impact BUDC are as follows:

Summary of GASB Statement No. 87, Leases

This Statement issued in June 2017 will be effective for BUDC with its fiscal year ending December 31, 2020. This
Statement befter meets the information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial
reporting for leases by governments. This Statement increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by
requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases
and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provision of the contract. It
establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the
right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an
intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of
resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments’ leasing activities.

The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019. Earlier
application is encouraged.

Summary of GASB Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost’
Incurred Before the End of a Construction Period

This Statement issued in June 2018 will be effective for BUBC begmmng with"i#s; fiscal year ending December 31,
2020. The primary objectives of this Statement are (1) te\enhance ‘the relevance and comparability of information
about capital assets and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period and (2) to simplify accounting for interest cost
incurred before the end of a construction period.

This Statement establishes accounting reqmrements\%r Tnﬁw@st cost‘«tﬁcun‘ed before the end of a construction period.
Such interest cost includes all interest that prewouéiy* was accgtinted for in accordance with the reqmrements of
paragraphs 5-22 of Statement No. 62, Codification of seinting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-
November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA ngyﬁoundemen s, which are superseded by this Statement, This Statement
requnres that interest cost incurred befwgr the eng of a co‘aétructlon period be recogmzed as an expense in the period
in which the cost is incurred for financial, statemmﬁ B wed using the economic resources measurement focus. As a
result, interest cost incurred before the ‘erid of a construction period will not be included in the historical cost of a
capital asset reported in a busn_ 8584y actwhy or enterprise fund.

This Statement also reﬁg’gtes that m i nancnal statements prepared using the current financial resources
measurement focus, interest gost incurred before the end of a construction period should be recognized as an
expenditure on a basis consiste’n{ with gpvernmental fund accounting principles.

The requirements of GASB Statement No. 89 are effective for financial periods beginning after December 15, 2019.
Earlier application is encouraged.

Summary of GASB Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations

This Statement issued in May 2019 will be effective for BUDC beginning with its fiscal year ending December 31,
2021. The primary objectives of this Statement are to provide a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations by
issuers and eliminate diversity in practice associated with (1) commitments extended by issuers, (2) arrangements
associated with conduit debt obligations, and (3) related note disclosures. This Statement achieves those objectives by
clarifying the existing definition of a conduit debt obligation; establishing standards for accounting and financial
reporting of additional commitments and voluntary commitments extended by issuers and arrangements associated
with conduit debt obligations; and improving required note disclosures.

The requirements of GASB Statement No. 91 are effective for financial periods beginning after December 15, 2020.
Earlier application is encouraged.
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BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2019
(UNAUDITED)

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) is a not-for-profit corporation whose mission is to support
the urban economic development efforts of the region through acquisition, remediation and management of
distressed properties, and to engage in related real estate development activities for the purpose of
attracting and/or retaining new and existing businesses to the City of Buffalo, New York (the City) as part
of the region. The mission of BUDC also includes supporting the revitalization of the City by serving as the
lead management entity for Buffalo Building Reuse Project (BBRP) initiatives, working in collaboration with
the Mayor's Office of Strategic Planning, including the coordination of financial assistance for downtown
adaptive re-use projects and public right-of-way improvements.

For financial reporting purposes, BUDC is classified as a governmentai “entity that is required fo comply
with accounting standards issued by the Governmental Accountlng,Standards Board (GASB) because a
majority of its governing body are officials of local governmerits, or appointed by officials of local
governments. Under GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements -and Management’s Discussion
and Analysis - for State and Local Governments, BUDC is J;equnred to pr‘e§vent management’s discussion
and analysis (MD&A) to assist readers in understanding BYUDC's flnanmal pen‘grmance

In compliance with GASB Statement No. 34, we present{hq -attat hed overview and analysis of the financial
activities of BUDC for the years ended December 31, 2019, . 2018 and 2017. We encourage readers to
consider the information presented here in conjufi¢] “tLoT WIth BUDE’s audited financial statements.
i

in 2017, BUDC's financial reporting entity expandéd as fesug‘mf a tax credit transaction to bring historic
tax credits (HTC) and new markets tax creditx(NMTC§ y ding to the development project at 683 Northland
Avenue (the Project), the location of L[a@ Northland lorkforce Training Center (Workforce Training Center).
The financial reporting entity consists’ of (a) BUDC (th pnmary entity), (b) 683 WTC, LLC (WTC), of which
BUDC is the sole member, and (c)©83 Noﬁj’i{éﬁi LL>G 683 Northland), of which WTC holds a 85% equity
interest. All significant intercompany "‘"1érnces and transactions between the three entities are eliminated
in the consolidated flnangag' tat\e en WTC is also the managing member of 683 Northland Master
Tenant, LLC (Master T{e{p@nt) and hQ‘Ids a\ﬂ\"é)eqmty interest.

Basic Overview of the l"‘ﬁa)r:leal St%tgments
Included in this Annual Repoﬁg;e:ﬂe following financial statements:

1) Statements of Net Position — This statement shows the reader what BUDC owns (assets and
deferred outflows) and what BUDC owes (liabilities and deferred inflows). The difference between
BUDC's assets, deferred oulflows, liabilities and deferred inflows (net posntlon) can be one way to
measure BUDC's financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in BUDC's net position is
one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating.

2) Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position — This statement reports BUDC's
operating and nonoperating revenues by major source along with operating expenses. The
difference between total revenues and expenses can be one way to measure BUDC's operating
results for the year.

3) Statements of Cash Flows — This statement reports BUDC'’s cash flows from operating, noncapital
financing, capital and related financing, and investing activities.
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Financial Highlights

BUDC'’s net position increased by 47% from $53,357,000 in 2018 to $78,604,000 in 2019 primarily
due to grant revenue recognized for capital outlays related to Phase Il of the Project at 683
Northland Avenue.

BUDC experienced an increase in net position of $24,746,000 in 2019 compared to an increase of
$18,595,000 in 2018 due mainly to Developer Fees of $11,887,000 recognized by BUDC for the
completion of Phases | and Il of the Project at 683 Northland Avenue. In addition, 683 Northland
recognized $2,873,000 of rental income and tenant reimbursement income.

BUDC'’s total assets increased by $11,874,000 primarily due to $31,151,000 of capital asset
additions, the majority of which related to the Project at 683 Northland Avenue. The increase in
capital assets was coupled with decreases in cash ($4,065,000) and restricted cash ($16,645,000).
BUDC's total liabilities decreased $13,373,000 as a result of a $9,582,000 decrease in unearned
grant revenue, a $6,208,000 decrease in accounts payable, a $4,924,000 decrease in deferred
developer fees, and a $5,066,000 increase in loans payable.
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Condensed Comparative Financial Statements:
1. Statements of Net Position:

The following table (Table 1) presents condensed comparative financial information and was derived from
the audited consolidated statements of net position of BUDC.

Table 1
Consolidated Statements of Net Position at December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
(Amounts in thousands)

2019 2018 $ Change % Change 201
Assets:
Cash $ 247 $ 4312 $ (4,065) 94% $ 11,094
Receivables 10,781 9,563 1 218 13% 14,262
Restricted cash 5,235 21,880 ,_/ (16 645) -76% 3,411
Other current assets 8,135 8, 295 / ;‘ (160) 2% 473
Loans receivable 10,791 10, 4'16 \\ ~ 375 4% 10,416
Equity investment 198 y. “ 198 - 0% 198
Capital assets, net 110,458 7 -67,644, 42,814 63% 6,594
Construction in process 2,607 (‘\ \1&,362‘: (11,668) -81% 15,334
Land and improvements held for sale 4,087 : «ﬂ82 5 0% 3,997
(‘\\:}\"h‘ '--
Total assets $ 15‘2 629 $4 ;1403%5 11,874 8% $ 65,779
Liabilities:
Current liabilities 31,124 $ (15,791) 51% $ 19,147
Long-term liabilities 66,274 2,418 4% 13,919
Total liabilities 87,398 (13,373) -15% 33,066
Net position: .
Net investment in capltal aésets : ';”'5’ , 47,176 26,085 55% 8,198
Restricted & 4,934 4,989 (55) 1% 5,254
Unrestricted 409 1,192 (783) -66% 19,261
Total net position $ 78604 $ 53,357 $ 25247 47% $ 32,713
Total liabilities and net position $ 152,629 $ 140,755 $ 11,874 8% $ 65,779
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Cash — Cash decreased $4,065,000 due primarily to capital outlays related to the Workforce Training
Center and other development in the Northland Corridor.

Receivables — Receivables include grant and other receivables owed as a result of BUDC's development
projects. The $1,218,000 increase is primarily due to $11,200,000 of grants awarded to BUDC during 2019,
compared to $10,000,000 of grant receipts during the year.

Restricted cash — Restricted cash includes amounts held by the Erie County Industrial Development
Agency (ECIDA) on behalf of BUDC related to the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund and the
Regionally Significant Project Fund. Also included in restricted cash are amounts received from ESD held
in segregated imprest accounts, which may be drawn down upon approval from ESD. The decrease of
$16,645,000 is mainly due to amounts released from these imprest accounts during the year.

Other current assets — Other current assets include prepaid expenses, developer fees receivable (BUDC)
and interest receivable.

Loans receivable — Loans receivable increased $375,000 in 2019, as one loan was funded as part of the
Buffalo Building Reuse Project loan program. - ,r

Capital assets, net — Capital assets net of accumulated deprecratlon\c(eased $42,814,000 primarily due
to the capitalization of portions of Phase Il of the Project at §,83 Northland \?enue

)>
Construction in process - Construction in process/ decreased $11,668,000 in 2019 due to the
capitalization of portions of Phase [l of the Project at 683‘Nprtbl§1d Avenue.

Land and improvements held for sale — Landfand 1mprove\r11ents held for sale represents property held
at BLCP and 308 Crowley Avenue, and has been\reduced ib its net realizable value; estimated by
management to be the fair value of the property when /e1d; 35

B

Current liabilities - The $15,791 000, fdecriase m‘w\;urrent liabilities was primarily due to recognition of
$9,582,000 of grant revenue to BUDC for I‘%mrthland Gorridor redevelopment and the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr.
Centennial Park project, coupled wrthxa $6‘f 57 Q_*deErease in accounts payable.

Long-term liabilities — Lorﬁ‘iex;fp?lla hties increased $2,418,000 due to increases in loans payable of
$5,066,000 and the defer"” d rent lig ﬂlty of$2 276,000, along with a decrease in deferred developer fees
($4,924,000). €< <0
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2. Change in Net Position:

The following table (Table 2) presents condensed comparative financial information and was derived from
BUDC'’s audited statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.

Table 2
Change in Net Position for the Years ended December 31, 3029, 2018 and 2017
(Amounts in thousands)

2019 2018 $ Change % Change 2017
Rewvenue:
Grants $ 20800 $ 26,253 $ (5,453) 21% $ 16,896
PILOT agreements 299 447 (148) -33% 501
Loan interest and commitment fees 150 138 - 12 9% 126
Rental and other revenue 14,842 645 / 14,197 2201% 75
Total revenue 36,091 27,483 \23.263 85% 17,598
A
Expenses: Y o oy
Dewelopment costs $ 2,580 %Qa fﬁé“ $ 1,986 334% $ 558
Adjustment to net realizable value _ 576 < 27 (2,151) -79% 1,013
Salaries and benefits 509~ \4;37 72 16% 444
General and administrative ‘?‘.'ag?“{ei 8,550° (456) -13% 193
Management fee N 21(345/ {15 19 17% 53
Depreciation 3 24 1,044 2,180 209% 5
Total expenses 8,467 1,650 19% 2,266
Operating income (loss) /;f 19,016 6,958 37% 15,332
Interest income & 13 6 46% 14
Interest expense (359) (813) 226% -
Amortization expense (75) - 0% -
In-kind revenue - - - 0% 730
Change in net position $ 24746 $ 18595 $ 6,151 33% $ 16,076
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3. Revenue and Expense Analysis:

Grants — Grant income includes income from ESD, NYPA and National Grid for projects along the
Northland Corridor, from the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Foundation for work related to Ralph C. Wilson, Jr.
Centennial Park, as well as from ECIDA for the BBRP. Grant income is recognized as the related grant
expenses are incurred. In 2019, $18,792,000 of grant revenue was recognized for Northiand Corridor
projects, $1,200,000 for Centennial Park and $100,000 for BBRP. The decrease of $5,453,000 from 2018
reflects the usage of larger grants related to 683 Northiand Avenue.

Rental and other revenue — Other revenue includes developer fees, rental income and other income. The
increase of $14,197,000 from 2018 was due to $11,900,000 of developer fee revenue recognized by BUDC
in 2019 related to Phases | and i of the Project at 683 Northland Avenue, along with $2,946,000 of rental
income.

Development costs — Development costs include those costs related to various BUDC projects but
excludes certain BLCP and Northland development costs that are reﬂected in “adjustment to net realizable
value” as discussed below. The increase of $1,986,000 is the result o)ffurther development on the Northiand
properties. / NN
*x" VRN

Adjustment to net realizable value — The adjustment to net/reallzable v\lue tepresents certain Northland
and BLCP capitalized development costs. These costs are: added to the book ¥yalue of capital assets and
land and improvements held for sale; however an offsettin g adjustment is recorded to reduce the net book
value to equal the estimated net realizable value of each Iop Ty

Salaries and benefits — Salaries and benefits faGreased b;‘.’p(Z 000 or 16% due to the hiring of a new
Northland Project Manager in 2019, along with annﬁE‘l%alény mcreé‘ses

General and administrative - General»a‘ﬁd\admmﬁst ;t ve costs decreased $456,000 from $3,550,000 in
2018 to $3,094,000 in 2019. The am’?é‘é\son fo“? this decrease was a grant from BUDC to Buffalo
Brownfield Restoration Corporatlgn (BBRC,) of arourkd $2,000,000 in 2018. In addition, 683 Northland
recognized general and admlnlstratg%E?pénsesnm 4,468,000.

Management fee — The mjénagel{i‘ent‘ffgg\represents costs charged for certain ECIDA staff that spend a
fming finan ~Té| co ‘pllance admlnlstratlve and property management services on

2019. The majority of depreciatidﬁ"expense ($3,209,000) was related to the building and improvements at
683 Northland Avenue.

Interest expense ~ Interest expense relates mainly to loans payable by 683 Northland. The $813,000
increase in interest expense from 2018 to 2019 reflects full utilization of construction bridge financing.

In-kind revenue — BUDC recognized $730,000 of in-kind revenue in 2017 related to the cost of demolition

at 537 East Delevan Avenue, that was funded by the City. No in-kind revenue was recognized in 2018 or
2019.
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4. Budget Analysis:

Each year, BUDC prepares an operating budget and three-year forecast. BUDC’'s 2019 budget was
presented and approved by the Board of Directors on October 30, 2018. The following table (Table 3)
presents an analysis of BUDC's performance compared to the approved 2019 budget.

Table 3
Budget to Actual Analysis for the year ended December 31, 2019
(Amounts in thousands)

Original Actual to Budget
Actual Budget $ Change % Change

Rewenue:
Grants $ 20,800 $ 28573 $ (7,773) 27%
PILOT agreements 299 41 9 (120) -29%
Loan interest and commitment fees 150 /49\ 101 206%
Other 14,842 <5 559 .. 9,283 167%
P Y
Total revenue 36,09}4"/ 34,600 5‘3.3263 67%
.‘ ."."./:'; i
Expenses: \ .
Dewelopment costs $ {*\\2 :580- $ \471 $ 2109 448%
Adjustment to net realizable value 5;6 i~ - 576 100%
Salaries and benefits ' “‘z 509 541 (32) 6%
General and administrative 33 94 500 2,594 519%

Management fee 60 74 123%
Depreciation 4,931 {1,707) -35%
Total expenses 6,503 3,614 56%
Operating income (loss) 28,097 (2,123) -8%
Interest income 19 5 14 280%
Interest expense (1,172) (365) (807) 221%
Amortization expense (75) - (75) 100%
Change in net position $ 24746 $ 27,737 $ (2,991) -11%

Note: The original 2019 budget was not amended; therefore, only one budget column is presented.

Budget to Actual Analysis:

Overall, BUDC'’s change in net position trailed the budget by $2,123,000. Grant revenue was $7,773,000
below budget due to lower than anticipated recognition of ESD and NYPA grant revenue related to the
Project at 683 Northland Avenue. Other revenue exceeded budget by $9,283,000 due to recognition of
developer fees for Phases | and |l of the Project at 683 Northland Avenue. Development costs of $2,580,000
were over budget by $2,109,000. $31,146,000 of costs incurred for Phase Il of the Project were capitalized
during 2019. General and administrative expenses of $3,094,000 exceeded budget by $2,594,000. 683
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Northland recognized $1,468,000 of non-capitalized costs related to work on the Project, and BUDC saw
an increase due to the amortization of prepaid rent for the Workforce Training Center operator at 683
Northland Avenue.

5. Economic Factors Impacting BUDC:

BUDC has limited sources of operating funds that can support its ongoing operating costs. As a resul,
BUDC is reliant upon future land sales occurring at its BLCP business park and future revenues at the
Northland Corridor redevelopment site to support operations.

6. Requests for Information:

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of BUDC’s finances. Questions concerning
any of the financial information provided in this report should be addressed to the Treasurer of BUDC at
(716) 856-6525. General information relating to BUDC can be found at its website
www.buffalourbandevelopment.com.
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BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

DECEMBER 31,
ASSETS 2019 2018
Current assets:
Cash $ 246,940 $ 4,312,129
Grants receivable 10,780,646 0,662,865
Restricted cash 5,234,585 21,880,344
Other current assets 8,135,225 8,293,592
Total current assets 24,397,396 44 048 930
Noncurrent assets:
Loans receivable, net 10,791,400 10,416,400
Equity investment 198,360 198,360
Capital assets, net 110,457,922 67,644,301
Construction in process 2,697,320 14,365,384
Land and improvements held for sale, net 4,086,967 4,081,967
Total noncurrent assets s 128,231,969 96,706,412
Total assets 152,629,365 $ 140,755,342
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 4,589,840 % 10,798,000
Unearned revenue 10,743,729 20,325,583
Total current liabilities 15.333,569 31,123,583
Noncurrent liabilities:
Deferred rent liability 14,453,317 12,176,884
Deferred developer fees - 4,924,392
Loans payable 43,981,202 38,915,462
Note payable 257,381 257,381
Total noncurrent liabilities 58,691,900 56,274,119
NET POSITION LN
Net investment in caplta1 assets (ne debt)” 73,261,007 47,176,190
Restricted \% 4,933,990 4,989,392
Unrestricted \%. 408,899 1,192,058
Total net position v 78,603,896 53,357,640
Total liabilities and net position $_ 152,629,365 $ 140,755,342

See accompanying notes.
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BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Operating revenues:
Grant revenue
Brownfield funds
Loan interest and commitment fees
Rental and other revenue
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Development costs
Adjustment to net realizable value
Salaries and benefits
General and administrative
Management fee
Depreciation

Total operating expenses

Operating income

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Interest income
Amortization expense
Interest expense

Total nonoperating revenues {(expenses)

Change in net position

Net position - beginning of year 3%4;

Add: capital contributions

Net position - end of years

2019 2018

$ 20,799,635 26,252,678

298,920 446,764

149,707 137,914

14,842,621 645,238

36,090,883 27,482,594

2,579,959 593,863

575,816 2,726,938

509,655 437,323

3,093,725 3,550,172

> 133,855 114,722

<5 3,224019 1,043,861

o~ 10,117,029 8,466,879
S

& 25,973,854 19,015,715

19,278 12,733

(74,872) (74,872)

(1,172,004) (358,923)

(1,227,598) (421,062)

24,746,256 18,594,653

53,357,640 32,713,692

500,000 2,049,295

$___ 78,603,896 53,357,640

See accompanying notes.
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BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities:

Amounts received from Brownfields funds $ 301,725 $ 550,686

Grants received 9,998,000 35,942,268

Receipts from loans and commitment fees 149,707 137,914

Disbursements of loans (375,000) -

Rental and other revenue 16,734,453 4,890,245

Payments to employees, suppliers, and other (6,020,050) (6,674,368)

Net cash provided by operating activities 20,788,835 34,846,745

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:

Acquisition and construction of capital assets (45,915,225) (50,232,126)

Proceeds from loans 5,065,740 25,453,754
Capital contributions 500,000 2,049,294
Net cash used by capital and related financing activities . (40,349,485) (22,729.078)
S
Cash flows from investing activities:
Change in restricted cash 16,645,759 (18,469,513)
Interest earned 19,278 12,733
Interest paid (1,169,576) (443.073)
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 15,495,461 (18,899.853)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents A:ff\\ ) \%} (4,065,189) (6,782,186)
Cash and cash equivalents - begmnmg of year U // Ay 4,312,129 11,094,315
Cash and cash equivalents - end of ;.ear 1 \'\\‘ $ 246940 $ 4312129
&L Al N v ———— " ————
Reconciliation of income from operatlo ys’to n‘et%ash
provided by operating actjvities:
Income from operations A‘.,- . $ 25,973,854 $ 19,015,715
Adjustment to reconcile |§qme from opératlons to
net cash provided by operating actlwtlks
Depreciation expensee\ 3,224,019 1,043,861
Decrease (increase) in gran‘ts rec‘élvame (1,217,781) 4,698,939
Decrease (increase) in other current assets 85,869 (45,130)
Increase in loans receivable {375,000)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 403,295 844,798
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue (9,581,854) 4,990,651
Increase in deferred rent liability 2,276,433 4,297 911
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 20,788,835 $ 34,846,745
Non-cash transactions:
Capital asset purchases not yet disbursed $ 2,882,573 $ 7,681,476
Grants received but not yet eamed 10,743,729 20,325,583

See accomp_a_nying notes.
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BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) have been prepared in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to government units.
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for establishing
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of the BUDC's accounting policies
are described below.

A.

REPORTING ENTITY

The Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) was incorporated to facilitate partnership with the private
sector in the development of the City of Buffalo (the City). Funding was initially received from the City, however
the City has not allocated direct funding to BUDC for several years and future allocations are not expected.
Funding is received primarily from land sales, grant funding, and loan repayments. In 2005, an agreement
between BUDC, Erie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA), the City, and Erie County (the County)
established the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund (the Fund). The Fund dedicates certain payments
received in lieu of real estate taxes (PILOT) for future eligible projectf,g:’ééts. The fund is administered by ECIDA
and reimburses BUDC for eligible project costs incurred. The activity of the Fund is included in these financial
statements. AT
Aﬁ’f A I,
The financial reporting entity consists of (a) the primary entity-which is BUQ,;;(Lb) 683 WTC, LLC, (WTC) of which
BUDC is the sole member, and (c) 683 Northland LLC,_(‘ISQﬂNaI}\d) in which«;§83 WTC, LLC has a 95% equity

interest. 4 &
b
In accordance with accounting standards, BUDC is not considered a component unit of another entity.
k \‘*:\)‘\.. :
BASIS OF PRESENTATION VT,
A My

S\
%5 2 i B
Revenues from grants, Brownfields fund; ;;gntal\ﬁaﬁ%yents and interest on loans are reported as operating

revenues. All expenses related tooperating BUDC are reported as operating expenses. Certain other
transactions are reported as nonopgrating a ;g;\;’/i_t_i\es in\clﬂding BUDC’s interest income from deposits.
When both restricted and grigitric‘té:g -lié”s'mée available for use, it is BUDC's policy to use restricted
resources first, then unrestﬁ@iéd:tgﬁquré 35.as they are needed.

‘?.r/ - N %

CONSOLIDATED FIN "‘NC\[{-\L STA éi\;ﬂENT’PRESENTATION

e . § (7
The consolidated financ;:]igiaiem fifs include the accounts of BUDC, WTC, and Northland. All significant
intercompany balances and "@gafs:actions have been eliminated in the accompanying consolidated financial

statements. These consolidatedfihancial statements have been prepared in conformity with GAAP.
MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

BUDC is considered a special-purpose government engaged in business-type activities. Business-type activities
are those that are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods or services. The
financial statements of BUDC are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual
basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are
incurred; regardless of when the cash transaction takes place.

Nonexchange transactions, in which BUDC gives or receives value without directly receiving or giving equal value
in exchange, include grants. Revenue from grants is recognized in the year in which all eligibility requirements
have been satisfied.

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH

BUDC's cash consists of cash on hand and demand deposits. Certain assets are classified on the balance sheet
as restricted because their use is limited.
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BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

F.

LOANS RECEIVABLE

Loans receivable are presented net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. BUDC maintains an allowance for
estimated uncollectible accounts which is based on an analysis of the loan portfolio and reflects an amount that, in
management’s judgment, is adequate to provide for potential loan losses. Loans are written off when, in

management’s judgment, no legal recourse is available to collect the amount owed.

Interest on loans receivable is accrued as required by the terms of the agreement; management considers that
collection is probable based on the current economic condition of the borrower. Accrual of interest ceases when
management adjusts a loan reserve to 50% or more of the loan’s outstanding balance.

PREPAID EXPENSES

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid
expenses. These amounts are inciuded in other current assets and amounted to $7,280,781 and $7,920,241 for
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

CAPITAL ASSETS / 4

Capital assets are recorded at acquisition cost and deprecnatedover ‘the .estimated useful lives of the respective
assets using the straight-line method. The cost of repairs, malk‘tenancé and minor replacements are expensed
as incurred, whereas expenditures that materially exten;l" property Ilves\are _capitalized. When depreciable
property is retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and- felated ccumulatedﬂeprecnatlon are removed from the
accounts and any gain or loss is reflected in income. C@ntnbuteg ‘Capital assets are recorded at fair value at the
date received. -\ ?‘,

Capitalization thresholds (the doliar value avae{whlch assi ot acquisitions are added to the capital asset
accounts), depreciation methods, and estimated: Juseful lives ovcapltal assets reported in the BUDC are as

follows: _ ‘( / T o
_;(,‘a”ﬁitalxzatnor}\ }« Depreciation Estimated
> Thréshold \ % __Method Useful Life

Furniture and equipment € ”\ 00R:--—» Straight-line 3-10 years
Buildings and improvements ‘ L/%D‘y Straight-fine 5-40 years

INSURANCE

BUDC is exposed to varl é‘rlsks of ss related to torts, theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets, personal
injury liability, and natura idisaster These risks are covered by commercial insurance purchased from
independent third parties. Ji rgn‘f‘ents and claims are recorded when it is probable that an asset has been
impaired or a liability has been“incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Settled claims

from these risks has not yet exceeded commercial insurance coverage for the past three years.

NET POSITION
Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

a. Net investment in capital assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation and related debt.

b. Restricted - Consists of net positions with constraints on the use either by (1) external groups such as
creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) law through constitutional
provisions or enabling legislation. Included in this classification are the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment
Fund and a loan fund.

c. Unrestricted - The net amount of assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of

resources that are not included in the determination of net investment in capital assets or the restricted
component of net position and therefore are available for general use by BUDC.
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BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

K. INCOME TAXES

BUDC is exempt from federal income tax under Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) and the income realized
will not be subject to New York State corporate franchise tax.

L. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, BUDC considers all cash, other than restricted cash, which
includes cash and demand accounts.

M. USE OF ESTIMATES IN THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilites at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses/expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could’ dlffer from those estimates.
7 v’
N. ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS </ \

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, BUDC has’ evaluated the\pfowswns of GASB Statement No. 83,
Certain Asset Retirement Obligations, Statement No/{,f84 Fiduciary ACtJVItIeS Statement No. 88, Cerfain
Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowing and Du’é?:t Placements and Statement No. 90, Majority
Equity Interests-an Amendment of GASB Statements NG: 14/‘énd 61, which became effective for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2019, and determined that they have 1o, sagnlflcant impact on BUDC's financial statements.

The following are GASB Statements that have been |ssued recenﬂy and are currently being evaluated, by BUDC,
for their potential impact in future years. / a4

-

+ Statement No. 87, Leases, which4 I be‘;ffectlv for the year ending December 31, 2020.
Statement No. 89, Accountmg<f6r Intereétfaqst in yrred before the End of a Construction Period, which will be
effective for the year ending Deceml;e 31:2020
Statement No. 91, Condu;AD,,ebt ifgatlons which will be effective for the year ending December 31, 2021.

Statement No. 92, Om :Ibl'l"S‘?UZQ ic WI|| be effective for the year ending December 31, 2021.

v

/

O. RECLASSIFICATIONS e};q
=

_;;i:’ifeclassified to conform with current year presentation.

. . ks,
Certain prior year amounts h ve\bg

NOTE 2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS

BUDC's investment policies are governed by State statutes. In addition, the BUDC has its own written investment
policy. BUDC monies must be deposited in Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC)-insured commercial banks
or trust companies located within the State. BUDC is authorized to use interest bearing demand accounts and
certificates of deposit. Permissible investments include obligations of the United States Treasury and its agencies,
repurchase agreements and obligations of the State and its localities.

Collateral is required for demand deposits and certificates of deposits not covered by federal deposit insurance.
Obligations that may be pledged as collateral are obligations of the United States and its agencies, obligations of the
State and its municipalities and school districts and obligations issued by other than New York State rated in one of the
three highest rating categories by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating organization.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, BUDC’s aggregate bank deposits were considered fully collateralized.
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BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Investment and Deposit Policy

BUDC follows an investment and deposit policy, the overall objective of which is to adequately safeguard the principal
amount of funds invested or deposited; conformance with federal, state and other legal requirements; and provide
sufficient liquidity of invested funds in order to meet obligations as they become due. Oversight of investment activity is
the responsibility of BUDC's Treasurer.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of investments will be affected by changing interest rates. BUDC'’s
investment policy does not limit investment maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising
from increasing interest rates.

Credit Risk

BUDC's policy is to minimize the risk of loss due to failure of an issuer or other counterparty to an investment to fulffill
its obligations. BUDC's investment and deposit policy authorizes the reporting entity to purchase the following types of
investments:

e Interest bearing demand accounts.
e Certificates of deposit. .
e Obligations of the United States Treasury and United States agencies.
e Obligations of New York State and its localities. P &
LR "\ >‘~
Custodial Credit Risk yiid <

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a failure of & depository financial institution, the reporting entity may
not recover its deposits. In accordance with BUDC's inves‘ti{i‘gr}l;@‘t)‘d’ deposit policy, all deposits of BUDC including
interest bearing demand accounts and certificates of deposit, ingxcess of the amount insured under the provisions of
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) shall. be secured by a pledge of securities with an aggregate value
equal to 100% of the aggregate amount of deposits. \l‘?{?Bngstrictg‘%@ securities to the following eligible items:

« Obligations issued, fully insured or guaranteed a\s.,"\tofftfﬁeg;a\fm’ént of principal and interest, by the United States
Treasury and United States agencies - §
o Obligations issued or fully insuredféff"guarah}‘eed by@e State of New York and its localities.
¢ Obligations issued by other thaﬁ;ﬁle;w Y, [§¥f§iaterrgtﬁd in one of the three highest rating categories by at least
one nationally recognized statisticaié;:ra{gg”org?ﬁiz”étions.
R S
A S A ©

L

BUDC has an agreement 1N ﬂa( Business Development Corporation to provide loans to facilitate the
development and adaptive reuse<of:va %}n’t or underutilized buildings in certain designated areas. The loan agreement
provides for $9,000,000 in total funding from five participating lending banks, with interest rates determined by the
banks. The balance of the loans outstanding were $1,125,000 and $750,000 at December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. Interest payments are due monthly and principal is due at maturity.

In 2017, BUDC made a loan in the amount of $9,666,400 to Northland NMTC Investment Fund, LLC (NMTC). Interest
accrues at the rate of one percent per annum (1%) and is due quarterly. Interest only payments from the date of first
advance, which was December 28, 2017 through December 31, 2024 are payable quarterly. Principal and interest
shall be paid commencing December 31, 2024 through December 31, 2042. NMTC pledges its entire interest in
BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC and NTCIC-Northiand, LLC. The following is a summary of the loans receivable.
BUDC's policy is to present loans receivable net of an allowance for uncollectible loans. Management has determined
that no allowance for these loans was necessary in 2019 and 2018.

2019 018

Total loans receivable $ 10,791,400 $ 10,416,400
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BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 4. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the BUDC for the year ended December 31, 2019 was as follows:

Balance Balance
01/01/19 Increases Decreases 12/31/19
Non-depreciable capital assets
Land $ 815,503 $ 29,439 § - $ 844,942
Construction work in progress 14,365,384 33,981,754 45,649,818 2,697,320
Idle buildings and improvements 3,135,116 2,375,650 - 5,510,766
Total non-depreciable capital assets 18,316,003 36,386,843 45,649,818 9,053,028
Depreciable capital assets:
Buildings and improvements 59,177,505 41,540,801 - 100,718,306
Furniture and equipment 5,578,724 2,091,750 4,042 7,666,432
Less: accumulated depreciation 1,062,547 3,224,019 4,042 4,282 524
Total depreciable assets, net 63,693,682 40,408,532 - 104,102,214
AN
Total capital assets, net $ 82000685 $ 76 795 375 % 45649818 $  113,155242
S N x
A AN
Capital asset activity for the BUDC for the year ended December 31, 2018 was as ellows
Balance Q\\_ Balance
01/01/18 __ “«_. Increases Decreases 12/31/18
,"1;‘: ;\3 \h N
Non-depreciable capital assets v R
Land $ \;515 623 \$\ 299,880 $ - $ 815,503
Construction work in progress <, 15‘334 049 14,365,384 15,334,049 14,365,384
Idle buildings and improvements A{:‘j}‘ ., 6 073 927 867,176 3,795,987 3,135,116
q
Total non-depreciable capital assets {é” : A fr2d, 923 599 15,522 440 19,130,038 18,316,003
D bl | t ﬁ\i\/ d
epreciable capital assets: e 4
Buildings and improvements < ‘;:4:\ N \& :i\_ - 59,177,505 - 59,177,505
Furniture and equipment & - = 5 23,569 5,655,155 - 5,678,724
Less: accumulated depreolatlon A 18,688 1,043,859 - 1,062,547
Total depreciable assets, netq\v_ I 4,881 63,688,801 - 63,693,682
Total capital assets, net \ b, 2 /?’ $ 21928480 $ 79211241 $ 19,130,036 $ 82,009,685
A

Land, buildings, and improvements related to the Northland Corridor amounted to $9,053,028 and $18,316,003 at
December 31, 2019 and 2018. BUDC intends to return these properties to productive use, assist with revitalizing the
surrounding neighborhood, and provide employment opportunities for nearby residents by creating a new
manufacturing hub on the City's east side. Once completed, BUDC expects to lease the property to local businesses,

government agencies, and nonprofit organizations.

Due to the extensive amount of revitalization, pollution remediation (Note 14), and other related activities, the
anticipated costs of certain Northland properties exceed the expected fair value of the properties based on current
estimates. Adjustments to net realizable value total $575,816 and $2,699,549 for the years ended December 31, 2019

and 2018, respectively.
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BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 5. LAND HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND SALE

In 2002, on behalf of the City, BUDC agreed to undertake a multi-phase Brownfield reclamation and redevelopment
project at the former Hanna Furnace site and land surrounding the Union Ship Canal, now known as Buffalo Lakeside
Commerce Park (BLCP). BUDC accepted 104 acres of tax foreclosed property from the City, demolished derelict
structures, and constructed approximately 5,000 linear feet of roads and infrastructure. Funding for this work was
provided by the State, the City, and the County. With additional funding from the State, BUDC purchased 130 acres of
land to add to the BLCP and constructed additional roads and infrastructure. Between 2004 and 2008 there were
multiple BLCP parcels sold to local businesses.

In 2018, BUDC purchased approximately 7 acres of property at 308 Crowley Street in the City of Buffalo for the
purpose of remediation and redevelopment. The property includes a derelict building which will undergo select
demolition.

Land and improvements held for sale are recorded at net realizable value based on assessment of the fair value of
each project as follows:

/ 2019 018
’x.‘
BLCP /$‘-,. 9,1 7 122 $ 9,085,843
308 Crowley i 9 299 85,299
Less adjustment to net realizable value (BLCP) <’j ' 5170,454: 5,089,175
Total land held for development and sale N A? 4,086,967 $ 4,081,967
\w - \ A
NOTE 6. GRANTS RECEIVABLE AND UNEARNED ‘REVENU\Ev - ~

- ‘f‘
In 2014, BUDC was awarded a grant anﬁf@ng to\$6/700 000 from Empire State Development (ESD) for the
acquisition, planning, environmental r“ fiew, apd siteyreview of properties defined as the Northland Corridor

Redevelopment Project (Project). /- L
's\\a/ —«ai_.?;_"’

In 2016, BUDC was awarded a $10,. 300 Ot "gz?;nt from ESD for the demolition, remediation, renovation, construction,
and site/street lmprovementsépr’vaﬂ us Northland properties and Western New York Workforce Training Center
project (Training Center). ‘An12018 BYDC Was*awarded $31,000,000 from ESD for further construction and site
improvements. In 2019, B! -’»’DC was awar ‘ed $4,167,781 in grants from various sources for further construction and
site improvements. _-,._.)\

In 2017, BUDC was awarded a $3 \‘OOO grant from the City’'s Community Development Block Grant funds for the
Project and Training Center. In addi ition BUDC was awarded a $1,912,028 grant from ESD for the Project. In 2018,
BUDC also was awarded grants in the amount of $550,000 from National Grid for the Project in the prior year.

In 2019, BUDC was awarded two grants from the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Foundation totaling $6,700,000 for project
coordination and advancing the transformation of Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park into a world-class park and
recreational amenity for the City and the Western New York Region.

The following is a summary of grants receivable and unearned grant revenue:

2019 2018
Grants receivable:

ESD $ 6,212,914 3 8,064,365
National Grid 500,000 550,000
Ralph C Wilson Jr. Foundation 3,850,000 -
National Fuel 48,500 48,500
NYSERDA 119,232 -
Other 50,000 -

$ 10,780,646 $ 9,562 865
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Unearned revenue:

ESD $ 4,359,368 $ 17,166,064
National Grid 250,000 550,000
Ralph C Wilson Jr. Foundation 4,792,800 -
NYPA 1,200,236 2,511,019
National Fuel - 98,500
NYSERDA 119,232 -
Other 22,093 -

$ 10,743,729 $ 20,325,583

NOTE 7. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

The following is a summary of accounts payable and accrued expenses:

2019 2018
Accounts payable $ 4425757 s 8838277
Accrued payroll 57,368 A 50,556
Accrued interest 93,715 A N, 88,913
Accrued developer fee - & 7 ‘1%-@11 ,354
Other accrued expenses 13,000 .~ - , ~2;900
$ 4,589,840: ,.;;’f,_ _/j$-" 10,798,000
XK
NOTE 8. DEFERRED RENT LIABILITY "

™

\ih N s : 2 C-‘_v,»,}\“’
Northland has a Master Lease Agreement (the Agre;\ﬁggtﬁv{?it\ﬁﬁé master tenant member to receive rental income
commencing August 26, 2018, the day prig) go@‘exﬁrst Eé;g’on which Phase | of the Building was placed in service for
purposes of the historical tax credits, throuﬁ!ri’ the ‘year en&%d December 31, 2037. Northland recognized $1,879,742 and
$626,581 in rental revenue related to tl-gfg’gree@énquogg_ﬁyéars ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The
lease agreement includes scheduled rent "‘f;?:r\‘efgges*o\ferst‘lf@-ierm of the lease, which in accordance with U.S. GAAP, will be
recognized on a straight-line basis.over theterm of the lease. Northland will reduce the deferred rent liability by $1,879,742

over each of the next 5 years apd throug Z‘?thye?e’?i\ inder of the life of the lease agreement.
iy X B

. £
Future minimum rental receipts to be recipfl;ed under the Master Lease Agreement are contractually due as follows as

of December 31, 2019: AN ;

2020 W $ 2,076,624

2021 ’ 486,684

2022 484,486

2023 492,423

2024 528,046

Thereafter _ 8014088
$_ 12,082,351

NOTE 9. NOTE PAYABLE

In connection with the purchase of property related to BLCP, BUDC issued a non-interest bearing note payable in an
amount equal to the greater of $525,000 ($13,125 per acre) or a percentage of the resale price of the developed
property. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the note payable amounted to $257,381, which represents the remaining
19.61 acres of land at $13,125 per acre. No payments are required until any portion of the property is sold.
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NOTE 10. LOANS AND NOTE PAYABLE

Mortgage Payable
During 2017, Northland borrowed amounts totaling $13,730,000 related to the Northland Corridor project from BACDE

NMTC Fund 16, LLC and NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC. BUDC is a guarantor on the loan agreement. Interest accrues at
the rate of 1.33776% and is due quarterly. The loans are collaterized by the building. Interest only payments from the
date of agreement, December 28, 2017 through December 31, 2024 are payable quarterly. Principal and interest are
due quarterly, commencing December 31, 2024, until the maturity date of December 28, 2052. Under the mortgage
agreements, Northland shall pay BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC an annual asset management fee of $45,000 through
2025 and NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC an annual asset management fee of $10,000 through 2026. There was no
amount outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Bridge Loan

Northland entered into two bridge loan agreements with KeyBank on December 28, 2017, in the amounts of $20,000,000
{Loan A) and $10,000,000 (Loan B). BUDC, WTC and BBRC Land Company |, LLC are guarantors on the loan
agreement. The loan is collaterized by security interest in all assets of WTC, BBRC Land Company |, LLC and Northland,
assignment of rents by Northland, and assignment of construction contracts’and architect's agreements. These bridge
loan agreements mature on June 30, 2021. The balance outstanding totaled- $30,000,000 and $25,378,882 at December
31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. interest on Loan A is calculated at ihe\qnme rate (as established by KeyBank), and
interest on Loan B is calculated at the prime rate (as established by | KeyBank) plus .25% per annum (3.31% and 4.31%,
respectively, at December 31, 2019). Accrued interest amounted”to $93,71 5\and $88,913 at December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively. ‘/ » A \V;

Term Note ' v

BUDC entered into a term note agreement with M&T Bank on FEbruary 28, 2019 totaling $369,750 for the purchase of

the land and building at 714 Northland. This note is Qt@ggjffearlng \tznly untll maturity in March 2024.

.

N
The above debt is summarized by funding source below\es fouewsat December 31:
/5"“‘\ 2019 N\ 2018
< =7
KeyBank ‘\’;é V. ,QL, 9\3 $ 25,378,882
BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC - " 8,730,000 8,730,000
NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC #C" <3, \}s_\_ 5,000,000 5,000,000
M&T Bank x/' %‘\5 o4 )) 369 750 -
N \J 44,099,750 39,108,882
Less: debt issuance costs <. il 118,548 193,420
N $_ 43981,202 $— 38015462

Current maturities of long term debt afe as follows for the years ended December 31:

Deferred
Gross Financing Net
2020 $ - $ 74,872 $ (74,872)
2021 30,000,000 43,676 29,956,324
2022 - - -
2023 - - -
2024 469,938 - 469,938
Thereafter 13,629,812 - 13,629,812
$ 44,090,750 $___118,548_ $ 43,981,202

interest expense for the year ending December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $1,172,004 and $358,923, respectively.
Capitalized interest amounted to $419,079 and $399,628 for the year ending December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively and is properly included in the building.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 11. EQUITY INVESTMENT

Equity investment represents WTC's 1% investment in 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC (Master Tenant). WTC
utilizes the historical cost method of accounting for its investment in the Master Tenant which results in the equity
investment balance being comprised of WTC's original capital contribution in the Master Tenant.

NOTE 12. RESTRICTED NET POSITION

BUDC'’s restricted net position consists of amounts related to the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund in the
amount of $1,689,662 and $1,798,106 at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively and a loan fund in the amount of
$3,244,328 and $3,191,286 at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

NOTE 13. NOTES RECEIVABLE WTC

BUDC and WTC have note agreements in the amount of $25,045,279 and $23 750,000 whereby BUDC will advance
proceeds to WTC as requested. The notes carry an interest rate of one’ percent {(1%), compounded annually and the
note is for a period of thirty years. The balance of the notes plus* acb(ued interest is due upon maturity date at
December 28, 2047. The total outstanding balance on these notes ‘Was $45,538,272 and $20,446,535 at December
31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Accrued interest on the loan amounted to $\481 009 and $136,521 at December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively. <:" /

W

NOTE 14. POLLUTION REMEDIATION o \
a,,\:‘: ~ B Q \

Various pollution remediation activities will be necehsary “at Northla d during development. Based on preliminary
environmental studies and design plans, management ‘belie ves elean- -up activates will amount to $4,575,000. The
current estimate includes 87% of the total odhtand ac eage acquired and the remaining sections are expected to be
demolished or consist of parking lots that will requlre liNaited clean-up. Management expects the entire cost of the
remediation to be reimbursed by Staté’or grants gt'herefore o pollution remediation liability has been accrued in these
financial statements. E

NOTE 15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

These financial statements hgve »not beep updated for subsequent events occurring after X0OXX XX, 2020 which is the
date these financial statements we re yatlable to be issued.

7
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

W
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BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2018

Buffalo Urban

Development 683 WTC 683 Northland
Corporation LLC LLC Eliminations Total
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 147,459 § - $ 99,481 $ - $ 246,940
Grants receivable 10,780,646 - - - 10,780,646
Restricted cash 4,351,267 - 883,328 - 5,234,585
Other current assets 12,630,089 1,500 489644 (1) (4,986 008) 8,135,225
Total current assets 27,909,451 1500 .~ . 1472453 (4,986,008) 24,397,396
" NER
Noncurrent assets: /{ <
Loans receivable 56,329,672 - @ (45,538,272) 10,791,400
Equity investment - 45539272 - - 1) (45,333,912) 198,360
Capital assets, net 6,493,875 { ‘ / 103,964,047 - 110,457,922
Construction in process - “ & 2,697,320 - 2,697,320
Land and improvements held for sale, net 4,086,967 \ N - - 4,086,967
Total noncurrent assets 66,910514 € . 45.532,272 106,661,367 (90,872,184) 128,231,969
A
Total assets $ 94,819, 965 $ 45 533\772 $ 108,133,820 $ (95,858,192) $ 152,629,365
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities: \
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 5“ '481,009 § 7,849,905 (1) $ (4,986,009) $ 4,589,840
Unearned grant revenue 3 - - 10,743,729
Total liabilities /1*31,988‘854 481, 009 7.849.905 (4,986,009) 15,333,569
s o G
Noncurrent liabilities: il '
Deferred rent liability < \\ 2 - 14,453,317 (1) - 14,453,317
Loans payable o 369]50 45,538,272 43,611,452 (1) (45,538,272) 43,981,202
Note payable T 257,381 - - - 257,381
Total noncurrent liabilities 627,131 45538272 58,064,769 (45,638,272) 58,691,900
NET POSITION (DEFICIT)
Net investment in capital assets 10,211,092 - 63,049,915 - 73,261,007
Restricted 4,933,990 - - - 4,933,990
Unrestricted (deficit) 67,059,088 (485,509} (20,830,769 (1) (45,333,911) 408.899
Total net position (deficit) 82,204,170 (485,509) 42,219,146 (45,333.911) 78,603,896
Total liabilities and net position $ 94819965 $ 45533772 % 108,133,820 $ (95,858 192) $ 152,629,365

(1) This represents activities between the entifies to be eliminated for the consolidated financial statements.
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BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Buffalo Urban

Development 683 WTC 683 Northland
Corporation LLC LLC Eliminations Total
Operating revenues:
Grant revenue $ 20,799,635 - $ - $ - $ 20,799,635
Brownfield funds 298,920 - - - 298,920
Loan interest and commitment fees 494,195 - - {1} (344,488) 149,707
Rental and other revenue 11,969 451 - 2,873,170 - 14,842 621
Total operating revenue 33,562,201 - i, 2 873170 (344 .488) 36,090,883
Operating expenses:
Development costs 2,212,848 - 2,579,959
Adjustment to net realizable value 575,816 - 575,816
Salaries and benefits 509,655 ¢ - 509,655
General and administrative 1,622,766 & 1,467,959 - 3,093,725
Management fee 78,855 S 55,000 - 133,855
Depreciation 16,526 5 3.208,4983 - 3,224,019
Total operating expenses 5,015 466 ﬂ& 5,098,563 - 10,117,029
= \ =
Operating income (loss) 28,546,735 i /}(5009) (2,225,393) (1) (344,488) 25,973,854
Nonoperating revenues (expenses): 6/4 & \
Interest income 495 / \\/ 2,783 - 19,278
Amortization expense Te T - (74,872) - (74,872)
Interest expense (16, ____}_ (344 488) (1,156,505} (1) 344488 (1,172,004)
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) /éfw \996 \ (344 488) (1,228 594) 344 488 (1,227,598)
i
Change in net position z' 28,547, 7%’13‘ (347,488) (3,4563,987) - 24,746,256
Net position - beginning of year \‘ 53 656 3/9 (138,021) 20,085,898 (1) (20,246,676) 53,357,639
Add: capital contributions ) ;,, . - 25587235 (1) (25,087.235) 500,000
Net position - end of year $ 82204170 $ (485,609) $ 42,219,146 $ (45.333.911) $ 78,603,896

(1) This represents activities between the entities to be eliminated for the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT TO THE MANAGING MEMBER

683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

DECEMBER 31, 2019
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: Fri eedMaxiCk?}pAs, PC.

March 18, 2020

To the Managing Member of
683 Northland LLC

(A Limited Liability Company)
95 Perry Street, Suite 404
Buffalo, New York 14203

Dear Managing Member:

We are pleased to present this report related to our audit of the financial statements of 683 Northland LLC (the Company)
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019. This report summarizes certain matters required by professional standards
to be communicated to you in your oversight responsibility for 683 Northland LLC's financial reporting process.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Managing Member and management and is not intended to

be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. It will be our pleasure to respond to any questions
you have about this report. We appreciate the opportunity o continue to be of service to 683 Northland LLC.
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Required Communications

Generally accepted auditing standards (AU-C 260, The Auditor's Communication With Those Charged With Governance)
require the auditor to promote effective two-way communication between the auditor and those charged with governance.
Consistent with this requirement, the following summarizes our responsibilities regarding the financial statement audit as
well as observations arising from our audit that are significant and relevant to your responsibility to oversee the financial

reporting process.

Area

Comments

Our Responsibilities With
Regard to the Financial
Statement Audit

Overview of the Planned Scope
and Timing of the Financial
Statement Audit

Accounting Policies and
Practices

Our responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America have been described to you in our arrangement letter dated February 6,
2020, Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or those
charged with governance of their responsibilities, which are also described in that
letter.

We have issued a separate communication dated February 6, 2020 regarding the
planned scope and timing of our audit and identified significant risks.

Preferability of Accounting Policies and Practices

Under generally accepted accounting principles, in certain circumstances,
management may select among alternative accounting practices. In our view, in such
circumstances, management has selected the preferable accounting practice.

Adoption of, or Change in, Accounting Policies

Management has the ultimate responsibility for the appropriateness of the accounting
policies used by the Company. Following is a description of significant accounting
policies or their application that were either initially selected or changed during the
year:

e In 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606). The new revenue recognition standard outlines a
comprehensive model for companies to use in accounting for revenue arising
from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue
recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The standard
must be applied retrospectively to each period presented or as a cumulative-
effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. The Company adopted this
standard for the year ended December 31, 2019. Management evaluated
the impact of this ASU and determined that there was not a significant impact
on the financial statements.

¢ In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash
Flows (Topic 230), Restricted Cash. The new restricted cash standard
requires that amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted
cash equivalents be included with cash and cash equivalents when
reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period fotal amounts shown
on the statement of cash flows. The amendments are effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2018. The standard must be applied
retrospectively to each period presented. The Company has implemented
the standard for the year ended December 31, 20189.

= FreedMaxiCkEpAs, PC.
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Area

Comments

Accounting Policies and
Practices (Continued)

Basis of Accounting

Audit Adjustments

Uncorrected Misstatements

Disagreements With
Management

Consultations With Other
Accountants

Significant [ssues Discussed
With Management

o In 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This ASU
supersedes the leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new
guidance, lessees are required to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities
on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases
will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting
the pattern of expenses recognition in the income statements. The new
standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020.

Significant or Unusual Transactions

We did not identify any significant or unusual transactions or significant accounting
policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative
guidance or consensus.

Management’s Judgments and Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the preparation of financial statements
and are based upon management's current judgement. The process used by
management encompasses their knowledge and experience about past and current
events and certain assumptions about fufure events. You may wish to monitor
throughout the year the process used to compute and record these accounting
estimates. The following describes the accounting estimates reflected in the
Company's December 31, 2019 financial statements:

e Estimated useful life of property in service
s Recoverability of long-lived assets

Above estimates made by management are deemed reasonable for the year ending
December 31, 2019.

The financial statements were prepared on the assumption that the Company will
continue as a going concem.

Audit adjustments, other than those that are clearly trivial, proposed by us and
recorded by 683 Northland LLC are shown in the attached “Summary of Recorded
Audit Adjustments.”

We are not aware of any uncorrected misstatements other than misstatements that
are clearly frivial.

We encountered no disagreements with management over the application of
significant accounting principles, the basis for management's judgments on any
significant matters, the scope of the audit, or significant disclosures to be included in
the financial statements.

We are not aware of any consultations management had with other accountants about
accounting or auditing matters.

No significant issues arising from the audit were discussed or the subject of
correspondence with management.

= FreedMaxickeeas e
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Area

Comments

Significant Difficulties
Encountered in Performing the
Audit

Letter Communicating Material
Weaknesses and Other Control
Deficiencies in Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting

Significant Written
Communications Between
Management and Our Firm

We did not encounter any significant difficulties in dealing with management during
the audit.

We have separately communicated the material weaknesses and other control
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting identified during our audit of the
financial statements, and this communication is attached as Exhibit A.

Copies of significant written communications between our firm and the management
of the Company, including the representation letter to be provided to us by
management, are attached as Exhibit B.

= FreedMaxickeeas.ec.
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683 Northland, LLC
Year End: December 31, 2019
Summary of Recorded Audit Adjustments

Number Date Name Account No Debit Credit
1 12/31/2019 Due from Master Tenant 1200.000 24,993
1 12/31/2018 CIP - Furniture {Ineligible) 1919.000 75,557
1 12/31/2019 CIP - Equipment (Ineligible} 1917.000 978,521
1 12/31/2019 CIP - Legal Services (Ineligible) 1921.000 20,845
i 12/31/2019 CIP - Management Fee (ineligible) 1929.000 55,000
1 12/31/2019 QLICI Asset Mgmt Fee 9130.000 55,000
1 12/131/2019 CIP - General Development (Eligible) 1934.000 65,912
1 12/31/2019 Other Professional Expenses 6105.000 65,912
1 12/31/2019 CIP - Servicing Fee (Ineligible) 1939.000 20,609
1 12/31/2019 Loan Servicing Fee 6126.000 22,109
1 12/31/2019 Insurance Expense 6125.000 2,983
1 1213112019 CIP - Insurance (ineligible) 1937.000 2,983
1 12/31/2019 Interest Expense 6124.000 138,674
1 12/31/2019 ECIDA Fees 6123.000 72,290
1 12/31/2019 CIP - Finance Charges (Ineligible) 1941.000 212,464
1 12/31/2019 CiP - Miscellaneous (Ineligible) 1945.000 4,149
1 12/31/2019 Tax & Audit Expense - Ineligible 6113.000 51,550
1 12/31/2019 CIP - Tax & Audit Expense - Ineligible 1925.000 51,550
1 1213112019 Furnitures, Fixtures & Equipment 1911.000 1,054,079
1 12/31/2019 Building Improvements 1914.000 450,926
1 12/31/2019 CIP - General Development (Eligible) 1934.000 460,926
To properly adjust various expenses and Master
Tenant activity out of construction in progress.
12/31/2019 Depreciation 7000.000 718,205
12/31/2019 Accumulated Depreciation 1950.000 718,205
To properly adjust current year depreciation
expense to actual.
12/31/2019 CIP - Finance Charges (Eligible) 1940.000 93,715
12/31/2018 Accrued interest 2501.000 93,715

To properly accrue for December interest included on construction

in progress schedule not recorded on the triat balance.
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Exhibit A - Letter Communicating Material Weaknesses and Other
Control Deficiencies in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

To Managing Member and Management
683 Northland LLC
Buffalo, NY

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of 683 Northland LLC (the Company) as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2019, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we
considered the Company's internal control over financial reporting (intemal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was not designed
to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses. Therefore, material weaknesses may exist
that were not identified. However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider
to be material weaknesses.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees,
in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely
basis. A deficiency in design exists when (a) a control necessary to meet the control objective is missing, or (b} an existing
control is not properly designed so that, even if the control operates as designed, the control objective would not be met. A
deficiency in operation exists when a properly designed control does not operate as designed or when the person performing
the control does not possess the necessary authority or competence to perform the control effectively.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected,
on a timely basis. We consider the following deficiency in the Company’s internal control to be a material weakness:

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Certain deficiencies in intemal control that have been previously communicated to you, in writing, by us or by others within
your organization are not repeated herein.

We consider the following deficiency in the Company's intemal control to be a material weakness:

Improper Recording of Fixed Assets

During our review of fixed assets, we noted several items incorrectly captured in construction in progress. Fixed assets
related to Phase | should be capitalized upon placement into service and begin depreciating. Further, there were several
expenses captured in construction in progress that should not have been capitalized. Management should implement a

process of reviewing the nature of the expense incurred prior to capitalizing into construction in progress in order to ensure
these items are properly recorded.
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These practices can lead to inaccurate account balances which impact the balance sheets and statements of operations.

Management Response:

Management has implemented a process fo review expenditures for proprietary of capitalization or
expenditure under U.S. GAAP prior to the recording of the transaction.

Following are descriptions of other identified deficiencies in internal control that we determined did not constitute significant
deficiencies or material weaknesses:

Landlord and Master Tenant Transactions

Throughout our audit, we noted several transactions that were not recorded on the proper entity. The master lease
agreement (MLA) governs the Landlord and Master Tenant structure and specifies what entity records certain transactions.
Under the MLA, all operating expenses including insurance, legal, repairs and maintenance and utilities are to be recorded
on the Master Tenant entity. Management should implement a process to assess the MLA and ensure activity is reflected
on the books and records of the proper entity.

Management Response:

Management has implemented policies and procedures fo review and analyze the Master Lease Agreement to
ensure transactions are recorded on the proper entify moving forward.

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the managing member and is not
intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Buffalo, New York
March 13, 2020

o Fr eedMaxickeeas e
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Exhibit B - Significant Written Communications Between Management
and Our Firm

Engagement Letter — previously furnished
Representation Letter — see attached

= FreedMaxickeess ec
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683 Northland LI.C

March 13, 2020

Freed Maxick CPAs, P.C.
424 Main Street, Suite 900
Buffalo, New York 14202

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of 683
Northland LLC (the Company), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
the related statements of operations and changes in members’ equity, and cash flows for the year then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
whether the financial staiements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP).

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, that as of the date of the auditor's report:

Financial Statements

1.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit arrangement letter dated
February 6, 2020, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements referred to above
in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control
to prevent and detect fraud.

Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair
value, are reasonable and reflect our judgment based on our knowledge and experience about past
and current events, and our assumptions about conditions we expect to exist and courses of action we
expect to take.

Related-party transactions, including those with other organizations for which the nature and
significance of their relationship with the company are such that exclusion would cause the reporting of
the company’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete, including accounts receivable and
payable, sale and purchase transactions, leasing and shared-service arrangements, have been
recorded in accordance with the economic substance of the transaction and appropriately accounted
for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the U.S. GAAP.

All events subseguent to the date of the financial statements, and for which U.S. GAAP requires
adjustment or disclosure, have been adjusted or disclosed.

The effects of all known actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed
in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The following specific representation has been drafted for when accounting services (such as
maintaining depreciation schedules, computing the provision for income taxes, drafting the financial
statements, assessing the impact of new accounting standards) have been performed as part of the
audit:
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9.

10.

With respect to services performed in the course of the audit:
a. We have made all management decisions and performed all management functions;
b. We assigned an appropriate individual to oversee the services;

c. We evaluated the adequacy and results of the services performed, and made an informed
judgment on the results of the services performed;

d. We have accepted responsibility for the results of the services; and

e. We have accepted responsibility for all significant judgments and decisions that were made.
We have no direct or indirect, legal or moral obligation for any debt of any organization, public or private
that is not disclosed in the financial statement,

We have no knowledge of any uncorrected misstatements in the financial statements.

Information Provided

11.

12.

13.

14.

16.

16.

We have provided you with:

a. Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant io the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;

b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit;

c. Unrestricted access to persons within the Company from whom you determined it necessary to
obtain audit evidence; and

d. Minutes of the meetings of stockholders, directors and committees of directors, or summaries of
actions of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared.

All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial
statements.

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of risk that the financial statements may be
materially misstated as a result of fraud.

We have no knowledge of allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting [Client NameJ's financial
statements involving:

a. Management.

b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control.

c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Company’s financial
statements received in communications from employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, short

sellers or others.

We have no knowledge of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with laws and regulations.
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17.

18.

19.

20.

21,

22.

We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation and claims whose effects should be
considered when preparing the financial statements.

We have disclosed to you the identity of the Company’s related parties and all the related-party
relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

We have informed you of all significant deficiencies, including material weaknesses, in the design or
operation of internal controls that could adversely affect 683 Northiand LLC's ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial data.

There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with, or
deficiencies in, financial reporting practices.

During the course of your audits, you may have accumulated records containing data that should be
reflected in our books and records. All such data have been so reflected. Accordingly, copies of such
records in your possession are no longer needed by us.

As of December 31, 2019, $114,444 in receivables are due from 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC.

683 Narthland LLC

Tl 7 7@@;%0»

Mollie Profic, CFO
Buffalo Urban Development Corporation, as Agent
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of
683 Northland LLC
(A Limited Liability Company)

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of 683 Northland LLC (A Limited Liability Company)
which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related statements of operations
and members’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal confrol relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of 683 Northland LLC as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash

flows for the years then ended in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Flad Mapoh CH%, /.

Buffalo, New York
March 13, 2020
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683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,

ASSETS 2019 2018
Current assets:
Cash $ 99,481 736,137
Due from related party 114,444 112,971
Accounts receivable 317,229 -
Prepaid insurance 57,971 154,546
Total current assets 589,125 1,003,654
Restricted cash 883,328 2,233,187
Land, property and equipment, net 106,661,367 78,352,653
Total assets $ 108,133,820 81,589,494
LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 3,251,190 8,504,983
Accrued interest 93,715 88,913
Developer fee payable 4,505,000 1,817,354
Total current liabilities 7,849,905 10,411,250
Deferred rent liability - Master Lease Agreement 14,453,317 12,176,884
Long term debt, net 43,611,452 38,915,462
Total liabilities 65,914,674 61,503,596
Members' equity 42,219,146 20,085,898
Total liabilities and members' equity $ 108,133,820 81,589,494

See accompanying notes.
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683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended December 31,

Operating revenues:
Rental revenue
Tenant reimbursements
Other
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Moving equipment expense
Professional fees
Construction expense
Insurance
Asset management fees
Miscellaneous
Repairs and maintenance
Supplies

Total operating expenses

Operating gain (loss)

Other (expense) income:
interest income
Depreciation
Interest expense
Total other expense

Net loss

2019 2018
$ 1,879,742 $ 626,581
961,723 -
31,705 -
2,873,170 626,581
682,564 .
552,880 946,833
367,111 -
204,332 69,740
55,000 55,000
27,596 32,451
587 49,978
- 215432
1,890,070 1,369,434
983,100 (742,853)
2,783 4,023
(3,208,493) (1,037,620)
(1,231,377) (433,795)
(4,437,087) (1,467,392)
$ (3,453987) $ (2,210,245)

See accompanying notes.
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683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS' EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31,

MANAGING
MEMBER MEMBER TOTAL
Members' equity - January 1, 2018 $ 9 $ 10,249,057 $ 10,249,066
Members' capital contributions 2,049,294 9,997,783 12,047,077
Net income (110,512) (2,099,733) (2,210,245)
Members' equity - December 31, 2018 1,938,791 18,147,107 20,085,898
Members' capital contributions 500,000 25,087,235 25,587,235
Net loss (172,699) (3,281,288) (3,453,987)
Members' equity - December 31, 2019 $ 2,266,091 $ 39,953,055 $ 42,219,146
Percentage interest 5.00% 95.00% 100%

See accompanying notes.
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683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (3,453,987) $ (2,210,245)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net
cash used by operating activities:

Depreciation 3,208,493 1,037,620

Amortization 74,872 74,872

Decrease (increase) in assets:

Prepaid insurance 96,575 8,581
Due from related party {1,473) (112,971)
Accounts receivable (317,229)

Increase (decrease) in liabilities: -
Accounts payable (8,395,018) (3,444,773)
Accrued interest 4,802 -
Deferred rent liability - Master Lease Agreement (1,844,742) (626,481)

Net cash used by operating activities (10,627,707) (5,273,397)
Cash flows from investing activities:

Acquisition and construction of capital assets (23,155,750) (48,826,542)
Net cash used by investing activities (23,155,750) (48,826,542)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Payments of prepaid rent under the Master Lease Agreement 4,121,175 12,603,363

Members' contributions 25,512,003 11,016,352

Repayment of developer fee (2,457,354) -

Proceeds from long term debt 4,621,118 26,378,882
Net cash provided by financing activities 31,796,942 48,998,597
Net decrease in cash and restricted cash (1,986,515) (5,101,342)
Cash and restricted cash - beginning of year 2,969,324 8,070,666
Cash and restricted cash - end of year $ 982,809 $ 2,969,324
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Noncash transactions:

Capital asset purchases in accounts payable $ 3,141,225 $ 8,503,246

Accrued interest in construction in progress $ - $ 88,913

Developer fee payable capitalized $ 5,145,000 $ 1,817,354

Members' capital contributions - capital assets $ 75232 $ 1,030,725

Cash paid for interest $ 1,226,575 $ -

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and restricted cash to the amounts reported within the
balance sheets:

2019 2018
Operating cash $ 99,481 $ 736,137
Restricted cash 883,328 2,233,187
Total cash and restricted cash $ 982 809 $ 2,969,324

See accompanying notes.
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683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION

683 Northland LLC (the Company) is a limited liability company formed pursuant to the laws of the State of
New York on December 13, 2016. The Company was formed to facilitate the ownership, rehabilitation and
operation of a commercial and industrial facility located at 683 Northland Avenue, City of Buffalo, known as the
Niagara Machine & Tool Works Factory (the Building). The Company serves as lessor to 683 Northland
Master Tenant, LLC, a related entity. The relationship between lessor and lessee is governed by a Master
Lease Agreement dated December 28, 2017.

The Building is listed on the National Register of Historic Places and will receive an allocation of federal and state
historic rehabilitation tax credits under Section 47 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and New
York credit for Rehabilitation of Historic Properties under Section 606(00) of New York State tax law. The Building
is being developed in two phases; Phase 1 received an allocation of rehabilitation tax credits in during the year
ended December 31, 2018; Phase 2 received allocations in the year ending December 31, 2019 and expects final
completion of the building and receipt of tax credits during the year ended December 31, 2020.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting: The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP).

Cash: The statement of cash flows considers amounts available for current operations to be cash and
includes amounts for restricted reserves.

Concentration of Credit Risk: The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times,
may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts. The
Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash.

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, one tenant represented 100% of rental revenue.

Accounts Receivable: Accounts receivable are comprised of billed and uncollected amounts due for
reimbursements related to leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment. On a periodic basis, the
Company evaluates its accounts receivable and wilt establish an allowance for doubtful accounts if necessary.
There was no allowance for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Revenue Income: The Company recognizes revenue on the date rent becomes due in accordance with the
Master Lease Agreement. Rental payments received in advance are deferred until earned. The Master Lease
Agreement is an operating lease.

Capitalization Policy: During the construction phase of the Project, certain disbursements are capitalized rather
than charged to expense. These costs generally include architects and appraisal fees; legal and accounting fees;
and construction period insurance, interest, utilities, and taxes.

Land, Property and Equipment: Land, property and equipment are carried at cost which includes all direct costs
of acquisition and construction as well as indirect costs including interest incurred during the rehabilitation period.
Renewals and betterments that materially extend the life of the assets are capitalized. Expenditures for
maintenance and repairs are charged against operations. Depreciation is provided for using the straight-line
method based on the following useful lives:

Building 39 years
Land improvements 15 years
Leasehold improvements 15 years
Building improvements 10 years
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 7 years
Equipment 5 years
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683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The Company reviews its land, property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the camying value of such property may not be recoverable. Recoverability is
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of land, property and equipment to the future net undiscounted
cash flow expected to be generated by the land, property and equipment and any estimated proceeds from the
eventual disposition of the land, property and equipment. If the land, property and equipment is considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured at the amount by which the carrying amount of the land,
property and equipment exceeds the fair value of such land, property and equipment. There were no impairment
losses recognized for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Debt Issuance Costs: Amortization of debt issuance costs for long term debt for the year ended December 31,
2019 and 2018 amounted to $74,872 and are included in interest expense. Total unamortized debt issuance costs
as of December 31, 2019 amounted to $118,548 ($193,420 — 2018)

Income Taxes: No provision or benefit has been made for income taxes in the accompanying financial
statements since taxable income or loss of the Company passed through to the respective members for
reporting passes through to, and is reportable by, the members individually.

Use of Estimates: In preparing financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, management makes
estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from these estimates and assumptions.

Start-up Costs: As Phase 1 of the Project was placed into service during the year ended December 31, 2018,
there were a number of start-up costs incurred and expensed related to this phase. These expenses include
supplies expense and professional fees including organizational costs, legal and ECIDA fees. These expenses
are included in operating expenses on the accompanying statements of operations.

Recently Adopted Accounting Principles: In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from
Conlracts with Customers. The new revenue recognition standard outlines a comprehensive model for
companies to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most
current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The standard must be applied
retrospectively to each period presented or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. The
Company adopted this standard for the year ended December 31, 2019. Management evaluated the impact of
this ASU and determined that there was not a significant impact on the financial statements.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230), Restricted Cash.
The new restricted cash standard requires that amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted
cash equivalents be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period and
end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. The amendments are effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2018. The standard must be applied retrospectively to each period
presented. The Company has implemented the standard for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement: In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases
(Topic 820). The guidance in this ASU supersedes the leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new
guidance, lessees are required to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all
leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with
classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The new standard is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. A modified retrospective transition approach is
required for lessees for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements, with certain practical expedients available.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this guidance with have on the financial
statements.
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683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Reclassification: Certain 2018 amounts have been reclassified to conform to 2019 presentation.

Subsequent Event: These financial statements have not been updated for subsequent events occurring after
March 13, 2020, which is the date these financial statements were available to be issued.

NOTE 3. LAND, PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Land, property and equipment consists of the following as of December 31:

2019 2018

Land $ 589,272 $ 589,272
Buildings and improvements 99,736,560 58,888,113
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 7,619,162 5,548,732

Leasehold improvements 265,166 -
Construction in process 2,697,320 14,364,156
110,907,480 79,390,273
Less: Accumulated depreciation (4,246,113) (1.037.620)
$..106,661,367 $_178.352,653

Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 amounted to $3,208,493 ($1,037,620 — 2018).

NOTE 4. CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND ALLOCATION OF PROFITS AND LOSSES

The Company consists of two members; 683 WTC, LLC and BBRC Land Company I, LLC. 683 WTC, LLC is the
managing member and a 95% owner. BBRC Land Company |, LLC has a 5% membership interest.

The managing member was required to contribute capital of $95 according to the terms of the operating
agreement. The managing member contributed an additional $25,087,235 during the year ended December 31,
2019 ($9,997,783 — 2018). During the year ended December 31, 2019 there were $75,232 of capital assets
contributed to the Company ($1,030,725 — 2018).

The member interest is required to contribute capital of $5. The member interest contributed a total of $500,000
during the year ended December 31, 2019 ($2,049,294 - 2018)

The terms of the amended and restated operating agreement of the Company, effective as of December 28,
2017, provides for, among other things, that profits and losses be allocated to each member in accordance with
the ratio of the value of the respective capital account to the value of all capital accounts in the aggregate.

NOTE 5. TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES

The Company has a Master Lease Agreement (the Agreement) with the master tenant member to receive rental
income commencing August 26, 2018, the day prior to the first date on which Phase { of the Building was placed in
service for purposes of the historical tax credits, through the year ended December 31, 2037. For the year ended
December 31, 2019, the Company recognized $1,879,742 in rental revenue related to the Agreement ($626,581 -
2018). The lease agreement includes scheduled rent increases over the term of the lease, which in accordance with
U.S. GAAP, will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The Company will reduce the
deferred rent liability by $1,879,742 over each of the next 5 years and through the remainder of the life of the lease
agreement.
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683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 5. TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES (CONTINUED)

Future minimum rental receipts to be received under the Master Lease Agreement are contractually due as
follows as of December 31, 2019:

2020 $ 2,076,624

2021 486,684
2022 484,486
2023 492,423
2024 528,046
Thereafter 8.014.088
$__12,082.351

Developer’'s Fee - Related Party: The Company has an agreement with Buffalo Urban Development
Corporation (the “Developer”) regarding the developer fee amounting to $11,886,746. A portion of the
developer fee equal to $6,741,746 was earned upon construction completion of Phase 1 of the Project during
the year ended December 31, 2018. The balance of $5,145,000 was earned upon construction completion of
Phase Il of the Project during the year ended December 31, 2019. As of December 31, 2019, the developer
fee payable amounted to $4,505,000 ($1,817,354 — 2018). The Company expects to pay the remaining
balance due on the Phase Il developer fee during 2020 and therefore has classified as a current liability in the
accompanying balance sheets.

Due from Related Parties: The Company has paid certain operating expenses directly to third parties on
behalf of 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC. The outstanding amount for the year ending December 31, 2019
is $114 444 ($112,971 - 2018).

NOTE 6. LONG TERM DEBT

Mortgage Payable: During 2017, the Company borrowed amounts totaling $13,730,000 related to the
Northland Corridor project from BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC and NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC. Buffalo Urban
Development Corporation, a related party, is a guarantor on the loan agreement. Interest accrues at the rate of
1.33776% and is due quarterly. The loans are collaterized by the building. Interest only payments from the
date of the agreement, December 28, 2017 through December 31, 2024 are payable quarterly. Principal and
interest are due quarterly, commencing December 31, 2024, until the maturity date of December 28, 2052.
Under the loan agreements, the Company shall pay BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC an annual asset
management fee of $45,000 through 2025 and NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC an annual asset management fee
of $10,000 through 2026. Asset management fees amounted to $55,000 for year ending December 31, 2019
and 2018.

Bridge Loans: The Company entered into two bridge loan agreements with KeyBank on December 28, 2017, in
the amounts of $20,000,000 (Loan A) and $10,000,000 (Loan B). Buffalo Urban Development Corporation, 683
WTC, LLC, and BBRC Land Company |, LLC, related parties, are guarantors on these loan agreements. The
loans are collaterized by security interest in all assets of 683 WTC, LLC, BBERC Land Company |, LLC and 683
Northland LLC, assignment of rents by the Company, and assignment of construction confracts and architect's
agreements. These bridge loan agreements mature on June 30, 2021. The balance outstanding at December 31,
2019 totaled $30,000,000 ($25,378,882 - 2018). Interest on Loan A is calculated at the prime rate (as established
by KeyBank), and interest on Loan B is calculated at the prime rate (as established by KeyBank) plus .25% per
annum (3.31% and 4.31%, respectively, at December 31, 2019). Accrued interest amounted to $93,715 as
December 31, 2019 ($88,913 - 2018).
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683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 6. LONG TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

The above long-term debt is summarized by funding source below as follows at December 31:

—019 2018
KeyBank $ 30,000,000 $ 25,378,882
BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC 8,730,000 8,730,000
NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC 5,000,000 5,000,000

$ 43,730,000 $ 39,108,882
Less: debt issuance costs 118,548 193,420

$.43,611,452 $.38,915,462

Current maturities of long-term debt are as follows for the years ending December 31, 2019:

Debt Issuance

Gross Costs Net
2020 $ - $ 74,872 $ (74,872)
2021 30,000,000 43,676 29,956,324
2022 - - -
2023 - - -
2024 100,188 - 100,188
Thereafter 13,629,812 - 13,629,812

$_43.730.000 $___118.548  $_43.611.452

Interest expense for the year ending December 31, 2019 was $1,156,505 ($358,923 — 2018). Capitalized interest
related to Phase [l amounted to $419,079 for the year ending December 31, 2019 and is properly included in the
building ($399,628 - 2018).

NOTE 7. RESTRICTED CASH AND FUNDED RESERVES

The Company was required to establish interest reserve accounts for the KeyBank bridge loans and asset
management fees in connection with the loans due to BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC and NTCIC-NORTHLAND,
LLC. The interest and asset management fees incurred in connection to these loans are paid from these reserve
accounts. The balances in the reserve accounts were as follows as of December 31:

2019 2018
KeyBank interest reserve $ 361,690 $ 1,605,640
BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC reserve 351,638 417,547
NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC reserve 170.000 210,000
$_.__883,328 $_2.233187
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ITEM 3

REPORT TO THE MANAGING MEMBER

683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

DECEMBER 31, 2019
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Trust earned.

= FreedMaxick’

March 18, 2020

To the Managing Member of

683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC
(A Limited Liability Company)

95 Perry Street, Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

Dear Managing Member:

We are pleased to present this report related to our audit of the financial statements of 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC
(the Company) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019. This report summarizes certain matters required by
professional standards to be communicated to you in your oversight responsibility for 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC's
financial reporting process.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Managing Member and management and is not intended to
be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. It will be our pleasure to respond to any questions
you have about this report. We appreciate the opportunity to continue to be of service to 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC.
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Required Communications

Generally accepted auditing standards (AU-C 260, The Auditor's Communication With Those Charged With Governance)
require the auditor to promote effective two-way communication between the auditor and those charged with governance.
Consistent with this requirement, the following summarizes our responsibilities regarding the financial statement audit as
well as observations arising from our audit that are significant and relevant to your responsibility to oversee the financial

reporting process.

Area

Comments

Our Responsibilities With Regard  Our responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted in the United

to the Financial Statement Audit

Overview of the Planned Scope
and Timing of the Financial
Statement Audit

Accounting Policies and
Practices

States of America have been described to you in our arrangement letter dated
February 6, 2020. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve
management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities, which are
also described in that letter.

We have isstied a separate communication dated February 6, 2020 regarding the
planned scope and timing of our audit and identified significant risks.

Preferability of Accounting Policies and Practices

Under generally accepted accounting principles, in cerfain circumstances,
management may select among alternative accounting practices. In our view, in
such circumstances, management has selected the preferable accounting practice.

Adoption of, or Change in, Accounting Policies

Management has the ultimate responsibility for the appropriateness of the
accounting policies used by the Company. Following is a description of significant
accounting policies or their application that were either initially selected or changed
during the year:

e In 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606). The new revenue recognition standard outlines a
comprehensive model for companies to use in accounting for revenue
arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current
revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The
standard must be applied retrospectively fo each period presented or as a
cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. The Company
adopted this standard for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Management evaluated the impact of this ASU and determined that there
was not a significant impact on the financial statements.

e In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash
Flows (Topic 230), Restricted Cash. The new restricted cash standard
requires that amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted
cash equivalents be included with cash and cash equivalents when
reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown
on the statement of cash flows. The amendments are effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2018. The standard must be applied
retrospectively to each period presented. The Company has implemented
the standard for the year ended December 31, 2019.

= FreedMaxickeess e
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Area

Comments

Accounting Policies and
Practices (Continued)

Basis of Accounting

Audit Adjustments

Uncorrected Misstatements

Disagreements With Management

Consultations With Other
Accountants

Significant Issues Discussed
With Management

Significant Difficulties
Encountered in Performing the
Audit

Letter Communicating Control
Deficiencies in Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting

o In 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This ASU
supersedes the leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new
guidance, lessees are required to recognize lease assets and lease
liabilities on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12
months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with
classification affecting the pattern of expenses recognition in the income
statements. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2020.

Significant or Unusual Transactions

We did not identify any significant or unusual transactions or significant accounting
policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative
guidance or consensus.

Management’s Judgments and Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the preparation of financial statements
and are based upon management's current judgement. The process used by
management encompasses their knowledge and experience about past and current
events and certain assumptions about future events. There were no material
estimates included in the financial statements.

The financial statements were prepared on the assumption that the Company will
continue as a going concern.

Audit adjustments, other than those that are clearly trivial, proposed by us and
recorded by 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC are shown in the attached
“Summary of Recorded Audit Adjustments.”

We are not aware of any uncorrected misstatements other than misstatements that
are clearly trivial,

We encountered no disagreements with management over the application of
significant accounting principles, the basis for management's judgments on any
significant matters, the scope of the audit, or significant disclosures to be included
in the financial statements.

We are not aware of any consultations management had with other accountants
about accounting or auditing matters.

No significant issues arising from the audit were discussed or the subject of
correspondence with management,

We did not encounter any significant difficulties in dealing with management during
the audit.

We have separately communicated the control deficiencies in internal control over
financial reporting identified during our audit of the financial statements, and this
communication is attached as Exhibit A.

= FreedMaxickess e
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Area Comments

Significant Written Copies of significant written communications between our firm and the management
Communications Between of the Company, including the representation letter to be provided to us by
Management and Our Firm management, are attached as Exhibit B.

= FreedMaxickimere
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683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC
Year End: December 31, 2019
Summary of Recorded Audit Adjustments

Number Date Name Account No Debit Credit
1 12/31/2019  Accounts Receivable 1200,000 45,995
1 12/31/2019 Rent Revenue - BMW 5003.000 45,995

To properly record the straight line of rental revenue related
to Buffalo Manufacturing Works sublease.

2 12/31/2019  Distributions 3000.000 105,026
2 12/31/2019  Accrued Priority Return 2011.000 105,026

To accrue for the priority return payable for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

3 12/131/2019  Legal Expense 6100.000 20,845

3 12/31/2019  Insurance Expense 6120.000 33,000

3 12/31/2019  Building Maintenance Expense 6200.000 4,148

3 12/31/2019  Utilities Expense 6210.000 24,434

3 12/31/2019  Due to 683 Northland, LLC 2009.000 82,427
To properly record operational expenses that were incorrectly
captured on the Landlord entity.

4 12/31/2019  Accounts Receivable 1200.000 288,000

4 12/31/2019  Deferred Rent Liability - NWTC 2601.000 288,000

To accrue for the priority return payable for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

= FreedMaxickieas.ec.
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Exhibit A - Letter Communicating Control Deficiencies in Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting

To Managing Member and Management
683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC
Buffalo, NY

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC (the Company) as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2019, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America, we considered the Company'’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was not designed
to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses. Therefore, material weaknesses may exist
that were not identified. However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider
to be material weaknesses.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees,
in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely
basis. A deficiency in design exists when (a) a control necessary to meet the control objective is missing, or (b) an existing
control is not properly designed so that, even if the control operates as designed, the control objective would not be met. A
deficiency in operation exists when a properly designed control does not operate as designed or when the person performing
the control does not possess the necessary authority or competence to perform the control effectively.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected,
on a timely basis. We consider the following deficiency in the Company's internal control to be a material weakness:

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Following are descriptions of other identified deficiencies in internal control that we determined did not constitute significant
deficiencies or material weaknesses:

Landlord and Master Tenant Transactions

Throughout our audit, we noted several transactions that were not recorded on the proper entity. The master lease
agreement (MLA) governs the Landlord and Master Tenant structure and specifies what entity records certain transactions.
Under the MLA, all operating expenses including insurance, legal, repairs and maintenance and utilities are to be recorded
on the Master Tenant entity. Management should implement a process to assess the MLA and ensure activity is reflected
on the books and records of the proper entity.
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Management Response:

Management has implemented policies and procedures fo review and analyze the Master Lease Agreement fo ensure
transactions are recorded on the proper entity moving forward.

Recording Rental Revenue in Accordance with U.S. GAAP

During testing of revenues, we noted rental revenue was not being recognized properly on a straight-line basis over the life
of the lease for Buffalo Manufacturing Works. In order to be in compliance with U.S. GAAP, rental agreements with escalating
rent should recognize revenue on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease agreement. Management implement a
process to assess all agreements entered into and ensure transactions are being recorded in compliance with U.S. GAAP.

Management Response:

Management has implemented procedures surroundings any new sublease agreements to determine the proper recording
of rental revenue under U.S. GAAP. Further, management will recognize revenue on a straight-line basis for all subleases
currently in effect.

Accrued Priority Return

During our review of the Company’s restated and amended operating agreement, we noted the priority return related fo the
investor member should be accrued for on an annual basis. No such accrual was made. Management should evaluate and
record the priority return payable as defined by the restated and amended operating agreement on a yearly basis.
Management Response:

Management has implemented procedures to ensure the recording of the accrued priority return as defined by the restated
and amended operating agreement.

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the managing member and is not
intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Flad Maps CHs, AC.

Buffalo, New York
March 13, 2020

= FreedMaxickeeas ec.
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Exhibit B - Significant Written Communications Between Management
and Our Firm

Engagement Letter — previously furnished
Representation Letter — see attached

2 FreedMaxickisme e
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683 Northland Master Tenant, LI.C

March 13, 2020

Freed Maxick CPAs, P.C.
900 Liberty Building

424 Main Street

Buffalo, NY 14202

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audits of the financial statements of 683 Northland
Master Tenant, LLC (the Company), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the
related statements of operations and changes in members’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and
the related notes to the financial statements, for the purpose of expressing an opinion on whether the financial
statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting principles generaily
accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP).

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, that as of the date of the auditor’s report:
Financial Statements

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit arrangement letter dated February 6,
2020, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements referred to above in accordance
with U.S. GAAP.

2. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control
relevant {o the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

3. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control to
prevent and detect fraud.

4. Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value,
are reasonable and reflect our judgment based on our knowledge and experience about past and current
events, and our assumptions about conditions we expect to exist and courses of action we expect to take.

5. Related-party transactions, including those with other organizations for which the nature and significance of
their relationship with the company are such that exclusion would cause the reporting of the company's financial
statements to be misleading or incomplete, including accounts receivable and payable, sale and purchase
transactions, leasing and shared-service arrangements, have been recorded in accordance with the economic
substance of the transaction and appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the
requirements of the U.S. GAAP,

6. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements, and for which U.S. GAAP requires adjustment
or disclosure, have been adjusted or disclosed.

7. The effects of all known actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in
accordance with U.S. GAAP.

8. The following specific representation has been drafted for when accounting services {such as maintaining
depreciation schedules, computing the provision for income taxes, drafting the financial statements,
assessing the impact of new accounting standards) have been performed as part of the audit:

With respect to services performed in the course of the audit:

70



9.

10.

a. We have made all management decisions and performed all management functions;
b. We assigned an appropriate individual to oversee the services;

c. We evaluated the adequacy and results of the services performed, and made an informed judgment
on the resulis of the services performed;

d. We have accepted responsibility for the results of the services; and
e. We have accepted responsibility for all significant judgments and decisions that were made.

We have no direct or indirect, legal or moral obligation for any debt of any organization, public or private that
is not disclosed in the financial statement.

We have no knowledge of any uncorrected misstatements in the financlal statements.

Information Provided

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.
17.

We have provided you with:

a. Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;

b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit;

¢. Unrestricted access to persons within the Company from whom you determined it necessary to obtain
audit evidence; and

d. Minutes of the meetings of stockholders, directors and committees of directors, or summaries of actions
of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared.

All fransactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements.

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of risk that the financial statements may be materially
misstated as a result of fraud.

We have no knowledge of allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting 683 Northland Master Tenant,
LLC's financial statements involving:

a. Management.

b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control.

¢. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Company’s financial
statements received in communications from employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, short
sellers or others.

We have no knowledge of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with laws and regulations.

We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation and claims whose effects should be considered
when preparing the financial statements.
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18.

19.

20.

21.

22,

We have disclosed to you the identity of the Company’s related parties and all the related-party relationships
and fransactions of which we are awars.

We are aware of no significant deficiencies, including material weaknesses, in the design or operation of
internal controls that could adversely affect 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC's ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial data.

There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with, or
deficiencies in, financial reporting practices.

During the course of your audit, you may have accumulated records containing data that should be reflected
in our books and records. All such data have been so reflected. Accordingly, copies of such records in your
possession are no longer needed by us.

As of December 31, 2019 $114,444 are due to 683 Northland, LLC, $254,935 are due to Buffalo Urban
Development Corporation, and $36,953 is due from 683 WTC, LLC.

683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC

Pl ) Zuose

Mollie Profic, Treasurer
Buffalo Urban Development Corporation, as Agent
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of
683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC
(A Limited Liability Company)

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC (A Limited
Liability Company) which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and the related
statements of operations and members’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended and the related notes to
the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of 683 Northiand Master Tenant, LLC as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Flad Maper s, /.

Buffalo, New York
March 13, 2020
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683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash - operating
Tenant receivables
Prepaid insurance
Total current assets

Reserves:
Operating reserve
Asset management fee reserve
Total reserves

Accrued rental income

Tenant security deposits

Equipment, net

Prepaid rent - Master Lease Agreement

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS'® EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Deferred rent liability - sublessee
Due to related parties
Total current liabilities

Tenant security deposits

Deferred rent liability - Master Lease Agreement

Deferred rent liability - sublessee
Distribution payable - priority return

Total liabilities
Members' equity

Total liabilities and members’ equity

See accompanying notes.

2019 2018
$ 16,394 § 2,832
361,614 11,500
18,501 57,277
396,509 71,609
335,383 -
50,057 -
385,440 -
45,995 -
39,450 5,000
7,481 -
16,924,540 12,803,365
$ 17,799,415 § 12,879,974
$ 32428 3 14,803
288,000 -
372,362 167,471
692,790 182,274
39,450 5,000
2,471,223 626,481
6,996,396 7,508,327
105,026 24,630
10,304,885 8,346,712
7,494,530 4,633,262
$ 17,799,415 §$ 12,879,974
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683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
{A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended December 31,

Revenues:
Rental revenue
Additional rental revenue
Other income
Total revenues

Expenses:

Rent expense

Payroll

Insurance expense

Utilities expense

Property management fee

Professional fees

Real estate taxes

Repairs and maintenance

Asset management fee

Miscellaneous expense
Total expenses

Loss from operations

Other expenses:
Depreciation expense

Net loss

See accompanying notes.
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2019 2018
754,631 $ -
167,996 216,644

4,565 9
927,192 216,653

1,879,742 626,581
129,470 25,350
120,670 31,555
111,798 73,771

41,493 10,800
46,936 2,825
22,473 -
18,400 1,992
10,000 10,000
8,851 281
2,389,833 783,155
(1,462,641) (566,502)
(1,870) -
(1,464,511) $ (566,502)




683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS' EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31,

INVESTOR MANAGING

MEMBER MEMBER TOTAL
Members' equity - January 1, 2018 $ 1,642 $ 198,360 $ 200,002
Members' capital contributions 4,924,392 - 4,924,392
Distributions (24,630) - (24,630)
Net loss (560,837) (5,665) (566,502)
Members' equity - December 31, 2018 $ 4,340,567 $ 192,695 $ 4,533,262
Members' capital contributions 4,536,758 - 4,536,758
Distributions (110,979) - (110,979)
Net loss (1,368,271) (13,821) (1,464,511)
Members' equity - December 31, 2019 $ 7,398,075 $ 178,874 $ 7,494,530
Percentage interest 99.00% 1.00% 100%

See accompanying notes.
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683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31,

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Decrease (increase) in assets:
Tenant receivables
Prepaid insurance
Accrued rental income
Prepaid rent - Master Lease Agreement
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Security deposit liability
Accounts payable
Due to related parties
Deferred rent liability - sublessee
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Equipment purchases
Net cash used by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Members' contributions
Distributions

Payments of prepaid rent under the Master Lease Agreement
Proceeds from prepaid rent under sublease agreement

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase in cash

Cash and restricted cash - beginning of year

Cash and restricted cash - end of year

Non-cash financing transactions:

Non-cash distribution recorded as distribution payable

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and restricted cash to the amounts

reported within the balance sheets:

Cash - operating

Tenant security deposits
Operating reserve

Asset management fee reserve

See accompanying notes.

2019 2018
(1,464,511) $ (566,502)
1,870 -
(350,114) (11,500)
38,776 (57,277)
(45,995) -
1,844,742 626,481
34,450 5,000
17,625 14,803
204,891 167,471
(223,931) (170,644)
57,803 7,832
(9,351) -
(9,351) -
4,536,758 4,024,392
(30,583) -
(4,121,175) (12,603,363)

- 7,678,971
385,000 -
433,452 7,832

7,832 $ -
441284 $ 7.832
105,026 $ 24,630
2019 2018
16,394 2,832
39,450 5,000
335,383 -
50,057 -
441,284 7.832




683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION

683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC (the Company) is a limited liability company formed pursuant to the laws of
the State of New York on September 7, 2017. 683 Northland LLC, a related entity, was formed to facilitate the
ownership, rehabilitation and operation of a commercial and industrial facility located at 683 Northland Avenue,
City of Buffalo, known as the Niagara Machine & Tool Works Factory (the Property). 683 Northland LLC
serves as lessor to the Company. The relationship between lessor and lessee is governed by a Master Lease
Agreement dated December 28, 2017. The major activities of the Company are governed by the Master
Tenant Amended and Restated Operating Agreement.

The Property is located in a historic district on the National Register of Historic Places and will receive an
allocation of federal and state historic rehabilitation tax credits under Section 47 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, and New York credit for Rehabilitation of Historic Properties under Section 606(00) of New
York State tax law. The Property is being developed in two phases; Phase 1 received an allocation of rehabilitation
tax credits during the year ended December 31, 2018; Phase 2 received allocations for the year ending December
31, 2019 and expects final completion of the building and receipt of tax credits during the year ending December
31, 2020.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting: The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP).

Cash: The statement of cash flows considers amounts available for current operations to be cash and
includes amounts restricted for repayment of tenant security deposits and reserves.

Concentration of Credit Risk: The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times,
may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts. The
Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, two tenants represented 100% of rental revenue and accounts
receivable (2018 — one tenant).

Tenant Receivables: Tenant receivables consists of receivables from tenants for rent and other charges, if
applicable, recorded according to the terms of their sublease agreements. Tenant receivables do not bear interest.
The Company holds tenant security deposits as collateral for tenant receivables. On a periodic basis, the
Company evaluates its tenant receivables and establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts. There was no
allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Revenue Income: The Company recognizes revenue on the date rent becomes due in accordance with the
leases. Rental payments received in advance are deferred until earned. All leases between parties are operating
leases.

Income Taxes: No provision or benefit has been made for income taxes in the accompanying financial
statements since taxable income or loss of the Company is passed through to the respective members for
reporting passes through to, and is reportable by, the members individually.

Operating Lease: The Company is obligated under a Master Lease Agreement (the Agreement) (Note 6),
with a related entity, through 2037. Minimum rent is recognized over the term of the lease using the straight-
line method. In addition to minimum rents, the lease requires payments for utilities, insurance, maintenance
costs, real estate taxes, and all other operating expenses. Minimum rent due under the Agreement consists of
base rent and prepaid rent. As of December 31, 2019, the Company paid $16,924,540 in prepaid rent
($12,803,365 — 2018).



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Use of Estimates: In preparing financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, management makes
estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from these estimates and assumptions,

Recently Adopted Accounting Principles: In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-08, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. The new revenue recognition standard outlines a comprehensive model for
companies to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most
current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The standard must be applied
retrospectively to each period presented or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. The
Company adopted this standard for the year ended December 31, 2019. Management evaluated the impact of
this ASU and determined that there was not a significant impact on the financial statements.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230), Restricted Cash.
The new restricted cash standard requires that amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted
cash equivalents be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period and
end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. The amendments are effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2018. The standard must be applied retrospectively to each period
presented. The Company has implemented the standard for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement: In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases
(Topic 820). The guidance in this ASU supersedes the leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new
guidance, lessees are required to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all
leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with
classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The new standard is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. A modified retrospective transition approach is
required for lessees for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements, with certain practical expedients available.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this guidance with have on the financial
statements.

Reclassification: Certain 2018 amounts have been reclassified to conform to 2019 presentation.

Subsequent Events: These financial statements have not been updated for subsequent events occurring
after March 13, 2020, which is the date these financial statements were available to be issued.

NOTE 3. TENANT SECURITY DEPOSITS

Tenant security deposits are maintained separate bank account from operating funds. They are tracked by
name of the tenant internally by the Company and are segregated on the related balance sheets.

NOTE 4. RESERVES

Asset Management Fee Reserve: The Company was required to establish a reserve to fund the payment of
asset management fees in the amount of $60,000 upon receipt of the third capital contribution from the

investor member. As of December 31, 2019, the reserve amounted to $50,057 ($0 — 2018). The remaining
required funding of the asset management fee reserve has been reduced by the investor member.
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683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 4. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Operating Reserve: The Company was required to establish an operating reserve to fund any operating
deficits as approved by the investor member. An initial contribution of $335,000 was to be deposited into the
operating reserve upon receipt of the third capital contribution from the investor member which occurred during
the year ended December 31, 2019. Funds are required to be held in a segregated, interest bearing account
with a federally insured financial institution. As of December 31, 2019, the reserve amounted to $335,383.

Replacement Reserve: The Company is required to establish a replacement reserve to fund any replacement
costs as approved by the investor member. The reserve is to be funded annually in the amount of $48,000
(subject to a 3% increase per year) from net cash flow in accordance with the allocation of profits and losses
(Note 8). Funds are required to be held in a segregated, interest bearing account with a federally insured
financial institution. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, there was no net cash flow available to fund the
replacement reserve.

NOTE 5. CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Company consists of fwo members; 683 WTC, LLC and NTCIC HTC Community Fund Il, LLC (NTCIC). 683
WTC, LLC is the managing member and a 1% owner. NTCIC is the investor member and has a 99% membership
interest.

The managing member is required to contribute capital of $198,360 according to the terms of the amended and
restated operating agreement. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the managing member has made all required
contributions.

The investor member is required to contribute capital of $19,905,141 based upon the completion of requirements
by the Company as defined in the amended and restated operating agreement. As of December 31, 2019, the
investor member made required contributions in the amount of $9,462,792 ($4,926,034 — 2018). Total remaining
required capital contributions amounted to $10,442,349 as of December 31, 2019 (514,979,107 — 2018).

NOTE 6. TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES

The Company has a Master Lease Agreement (the Agreement) with the lessor, a related entity, to pay rental
expense commencing on August 26, 2018, the day prior to the first date on which Phase | of the building was
placed in service for purposes of the historical tax credits through 2037. For the year ended December 31, 2019,
the Company recognized $1,879,742 in rental expense ($626,581 — 2018). The lease agreement includes
scheduled rent increases over the term of the lease, which in accordance with U.S. GAAP will be recognized on a
straight-line bases over the term of the lease.

Future minimum rental payments to be paid under the Master Lease Agreement are contractually due as
follows:

2020 $ 2,076,624
2021 486,684
2022 484,486
2023 492 423
2024 528,046
Thereafter 8.014.088
$__12,082,351
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683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 6. TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES (CONTINUED)

Due to Related Parties: The Company owes certain operating expenses paid by related parties directly to a third
party on behalf of the Company. These amounts are recorded as due to related parties on the accompanying
balance sheets.

NOTE 7. COMMERCIAL RENTAL REVENUE

Northland Workforce Training Center: The Company entered into a sublease agreement with the Economic
Development Group, Inc. d.b.a. Northland Workforce Training Center, (NWTC), commencing on September 1,
2018, and extending through August 31, 2033. The agreement calls for payment of prepaid rent and additional
rent. Rental income from the sublease agreement is being recognized on a straight-line basis, in accordance
with U.S. GAAP, over the term of the lease. Prepaid rent in the amount of $7,678,971 was due and paid during
the year ended December 31, 2018; $511,931 of rental income related to the prepaid rent was recognized
during the year ended December 31, 2019 ($170,663 — 2018). Starting in 2019, the Company is required to
estimate additional rental income on a monthly basis and provide NWTC with a statement of actual additional
rent incurred within 90 days of year end. Additional rental income under the sublease amounted to $11,500
per month during the year ended December 31, 2018. During the year ended December 31, 2019, $123,179 in
additional rental income was recognized ($46,000 — 2018).

Additionally, the Company entered into a second sublease agreement during 2019 for an additional space
related to the Northland Workforce Training Center commencing October 1, 2019 and extending through July
31, 2026. The agreement calls for payment of prepaid rent in the amount of $288,000. As of December 31,
2019, the prepaid rent had not yet been received and the entire amount of rent recognized is captured in
tenants receivable. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized $10,258 in rental
income based on the second sublease agreement.

Buffalo Manufacturing Works: The Company entered into a sublease agreement with Edison Welding
Institute Inc. d/b/a Buffalo Manufacturing Works, commencing on July 1, 2019, and extending through June 30,
2034, For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized $237,700 in rental income based on
this agreement. There was no rental income for this sublease agreement for the year ending December 31,
2018.

Manna Culinary Group: The Company entered into a sublease agreement with Manna Culinary Group, Inc.
commencing on September 30, 2019, and extending through October 31, 2024. Under the sublease
agreement, base rent payments begin March 1, 2020. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
there was no rental income recognized for this sublease agreement.

Sparkcharge: The Company entered into a sublease agreement with Sparkcharge, Inc. commencing on
March 1, 2020, and extending through February 28, 2023. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
there was no rental income recognized for this sublease agreement.

The following is a schedule of minimum future rental revenue on noncancelable leases with an initial term
greater than one year:

2020 $ 433,797
2021 462,386
2022 480,255
2023 460,666
2024 438,004
Thereaiter 4,873,190
Total $__7.148,207

83



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8. ALLOCATION OF PROFITS AND LOSSES
In accordance with the amended and restated operating agreement, operating profits and losses and credits, other
than those arising from a capital fransaction, will be allocated in the ratio 1% to the managing member and 99% to
the investor member. Profits and losses arising from a capital transaction will be allocated to the members in
various amounts as described in the amended and restated operating agreement depending on if the amounts are
profits or losses and if the members’ capital account balances are negative or positive.
All net cash flow available for distribution shall be paid annually as follows:

(i) Tothe investor member in the amount of any unpaid adjusters;

(i) Tothe investor member in the amount of any outstanding special tax distribution;

(i) The investor member in the amount of any outstanding priority return for the fiscal year plus any
outstanding priority return for any prior fiscal year;

(iv) Tofund the replacement reserve;

(v) To the repayment of any subordinated loans (and accrued interest thereon) and any operating deficient
loans; and

(vi) The balance to the members in accordance with their percentage interests.
Profits arising from a capital transaction will be distributed in the following order: first to each member, an amount
equal to their negative capital account basis based on their proportionate share of the anticipated distribution;
second, any remaining profits are distributed in accordance with the members’ capital accounts.
Losses arising from a capital transaction will be allocated in the following order: first to each member, an amount
equal to their positive capital account basis based on their proportionate share of the anticipated distribution;
second, any remaining losses are distributed in accordance with the members’ capital accounts.

For distributions other than cash flow and distributions prior to dissolution or termination of the Company, assets
and proceeds will be distributed in the following order:

(i) To the payment of all matured debts and liabilities of the Company and all expenses of the Company
incident to any Capital Transaction), excluding (i) debts and liabilities of the Company to members or
any affiliates, and (ii) all unpaid fees owing to any developer entity;

(i) To the setting up of any reserves which the liquidator (or the managing member if the distribution is not
pursuant to the liquidation of the Company) deems reasonably necessary for contingent, unmatured
or unforeseen liabilities or obligations of the Company;

(iy To the payment to the investor member of any unpaid credit recovery loans and interest thereon;

(iv) To the investor member in the amount of any outstanding priority return;

(v) To the payment of any unpaid special tax distribution plus an amount equal, on an after-tax basis, to the
local, state and federal taxes projected (at the applicable tax rate) to be imposed on the members of
the investor member as a result of the capital transaction;

(vi) To the repayment of any unpaid debts and liabilities (including unpaid fees) owed to the members or any
affiliates by the Company for Company obligations; and

(vii) The balance to the members in accordance with their percentage interests.
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683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8. ALLOCATION OF PROFITS AND LOSSES (CONTINUED)

The amended and restated operating agreement requires the distribution of cash based upon the net cash
flow calculation. Distributable cash flow is calculated annually as defined by the amended and restated
operating agreement. Based upon the calculation, there is no net cash flow available to be distributed for the
year ending December 31, 2019 and 2018. However, according to the amended and restated operating
agreement, any priority return not distributed shall accrue and remain payable until net cash flow becomes
available. Under the amended and restated operating agreement, the priority return is based upon 1.5% of the
portion of capital contributions attributable to federal historic tax credits and is pro-rated for any periods less
than a full year. As of December 31, 2019, $105,026 was accrued as payable to the investor member for the
priority return ($24,630 — 2018). During the year ended December 31, 2019, the investor member was paid
$30,583 for the 2018 accrued priority return.

NOTE 9. OPERATING DEFICIT GUARANTY

In accordance with the amended and restated operating agreement, the managing member will provide funds
to the Company so as to allow them to cover accrued accounts payable on a 60-day current basis. Any funds
advanced shall be provided in the form of an operating deficit loan. An operating deficit loan shall be treated
as a subordinated loan and shall bear no interest. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, no funds were loaned
to the Company from the managing member.

NOTE 10. PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

The Company entered into a property management agreement with Mancuso Management Inc. (Mancuso) in
December 2017. Under the agreement, Mancuso is to provide leasing and property management services.
Under the agreement, the monthly management fee is calculated at 5% of rents billed or $2,700, whichever is
higher. The original agreement extended through August 2018 and can be extended for up to two additional
one-year terms. The current extension ends August 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2019, $41,493 of
property management fees were incurred and paid ($10,800 — 2018).

NOTE 11. RECONCILIATION OF TAXABLE LOSS

The reconciliation of financial statement net loss to the taxable loss of the Company for the year ended December
31, is as follows:

2019 2018

Financial statement net loss $ (1,464,511) $ (566,502)
Add (subtract) nondeductible items per tax return:

Book to Tax depreciation (7,481) -

Section 467 income 413,479 469,258

Section 467 expense 91,157 (333,420)

Asset management fee/guaranteed payments 10.000 10.000

Taxable loss $____ (957,356) $__(420.664)

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction and New York State.
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683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 12. PAYMENT IN LIEU OF TAXES (PILOT)

The Company entered into a 7 year agreement (the Agreement), through December 31, 2026, with the Erie
County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA), on behalf of the City of Buffalo (the City), the City of Buffalo
School District (the School District), and County of Erie (the County), whereby the Company pays an annual
PILOT payment to the City, the County and the School District. The Company is exempt from taxes until the tax
fiscal year beginning in 2019. Beginning in 2019, the Company shall pay a payment in lieu of taxes composed of a
land component, an existing improvements component, and a variable component. The variable component will
be impacted by application of an annual payment factor. The payment factor will be 10% for the first two years of
the Agreement, 20% for the next two years of the Agreement, and 30% for the final three years of the Agreement.
The Company paid taxes amounting to $20,643 for the year ended December 31, 2019. There were no payments
made for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street

Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone:  716-856-6525

fax:  716-856-6754

Buffalo'Urban Development Corporatich

web: buffalourbandevelopment.com
. Item 5
MEMORANDUM
TO: Audit & Finance Committee
FROM: Mollie Profic, Treasurer

SUBJECT: Reimbursement of Brownfield Expenses from Brownfield Fund
DATE: March 19, 2020

The Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund (“BBRF” or the “Fund) allows certain third-party
expenses incurred by BUDC in connection with the development of Buffalo Lakeside Commerce
Park (“BLCP”) to be reimbursed. Under the Fund Administration Agreement, these out-of-
pocket third-party costs “include, but are not limited to, land acquisition, site investigations, site
planning, remediation, road and utility construction and related legal costs™.

On September 26, 2012, the Board designated the BLCP project as complete, which allowed for
the expansion of the use of BBRF funds to “other comparable projects” in the City of Buffalo.
Riverbend, Northland and 308 Crowley Street were designated “comparable” projects by the
Board beginning October 1, 2012, January 1, 2015 and June 26, 2018, respectively.

Since 2011, reimbursements have been approved for costs incurred related to BLCP, Riverbend
and Northland. On March 27, 2018, the Board approved the reimbursement of Riverbend,
Northland and BLCP costs from January 1, 2017 — December 31, 2017 in the amount of
$428,227. Grant application fees related to Northland totaling $311,848 were approved for
reimbursement by the Board on May 10, 2018. Additional reimbursement of BLCP, Riverbend,
Northland and 308 Crowley costs from January 1, 2018 — December 31, 2018 in the amount of
$419,785 were approved by the Board on March 26, 2019, for a total of $731,633 in 2018.

On an ongoing basis, the Board approved the pledge of BBRF monies to be used as matching
funds for the $1,912,028 Restore NY 4 grant, based on an original project budget of $2,188,028.
Project cost increases at 612 Northland Avenue lead to final project costs of $2,477,126. The
following chart outlines the project budget, grant and matching sources:

Restore NY 4 Total Project Costs $2,477,126
Empire State Development Restore NY grant (1,912,028)
City of Buffalo in-kind contribution (85.899)
Required local match 479,199
Third party amounts used toward local match! (142.197)
Local match required from BUDC $337,002

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Board Chair » Dennis Penman, Vice Chair « Peter M. Cammarata, President « David A. Stebbins, Executive Vice President « Brandye Merriweather, Vice President

Mollie Profic, Treasurer * Atiqa Abidi, Assistant Treasurer + Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary i
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Funding received from BUDC Regionally Significant Project Fund ($86,097), Albright Knox
Art Gallery ($33,236) and Buffalo Sewer Authority ($22,864) used toward local match
requirement.

We are now requesting reimbursement of BLCP, Riverbend, Northland & 308 Crowley Street
costs incurred in 2019 and Restore NY 4 matching funds in the amount of $787,930, as outlined
below.

Eligible third-party costs® $450,928
Restore NY 4 local match from BUDC 337.002
$787,930

2The attachment to this memorandum details the $450,928 in eligible third-party costs that have
been incurred by BUDC and which are eligible for reimbursement by the Fund.

BUDC management recommends netting the reimbursement request against outstanding BUDC
borrowings from the Brownfield Fund, which are due to be repaid, of $749,871. The net amount
received from the Brownfield Fund will amount to $38,059. After this reimbursement, BBRF is
anticipated to have a balance of approximately $1.4 million.

Action:

I am requesting that the Committee recommend the following to the Board:
1. Recommend $337,002 of reimbursement from the Brownfield Fund toward the Restore

NY 4 grant local match;
2. Approve the reimbursement to BUDC of $450,928 in third party, BLCP, Riverbend, 308
Crowley and Northland costs, from the BBRF as outlined in Attachment 1 to this

memorandum.



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
Summary of Costs Paid by BUDC & Reimbursable from BBRF

2019
|Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park | 2019
Landscaping S 42,215
Legal Costs 5,903
Marketing -
Property Insurance 17,229
Snowplowing 5,375
Operations & Maintenance 3,746
Consultants 850
Utilities 954
77,122
[Riverbend
Taxes, Operations & Maintenance 132
1308 Crowley
Landscaping 1,475
Legal Costs 1,120
Property Insurance 19,939
22,534
[Northland*
Insurance 80,123
General Development 66,510
Operations & Maintenance 25,898
Legal Costs 7,600
Snowplowing 60,667
Landscaping 12,523
Consultants 19,135
Utilities 1,370
Marketing 1,642
275,467
|683 Northland LLC*
Insurance 71,525
Operations & Maintenance 4,148
75,672
Total $ 450,928

*The Northland costs represent those costs that are not reimbursed through other grant agreement(s).
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ITEM 9

BUDC
Regionally Significant Project Fund
Summary of Recent Activity (updated March 16, 2020)

RSP
Description Amount Balance
2/29/20 Balance $ 17,550
Commitments
Ellicott Street Node Concept Plan (Board approved 7/30/19}) (17,500)
Uncommitted Funds

Notes: 2018 was the final year of the Astronics/Luminescent PILOT. No additional revenue will be added
to this fund. Remaining uncommitted funds to be distributed to BUDC as part of the 612 Northland project request.
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